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          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Good afternoon,

          3  everyone. This is a public hearing before the

          4  Council's Committee on Governmental Operations. I am

          5  Council Member Bill Perkins, Chair of this

          6  Committee, and we're joined today by several

          7  additional members of the Committee.

          8                 I want to acknowledge Council Member

          9  Madeline Provenzano, Councilman Michael Nelson,

         10  Councilwoman Eva Moskowitz, Councilwoman Christine

         11  Quinn, and I want to also acknowledge the Counsel

         12  for the Committee, Janet Ford.

         13                 On February 20th of this year, the

         14  Committee had an oversight hearing, seeking

         15  information on the archiving of the City's public

         16  papers. Based on this hearing, the Committee found

         17  that the present law was insufficient in ensuring

         18  the Charter mandated public control of City

         19  documents.

         20                 On April 5th of this year, the City

         21  heard testimony on Intro. 102, a bill that aimed to

         22  better clarify the custody and control of City

         23  records, of historical or other important value.

         24                 Based on testimony from various

         25  professionals, experts and government advocates,
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          2  certain changes were incorporated to better express

          3  and achieve the bill's purpose.

          4                 This purpose, amended version Intro.

          5  102-A, will be heard today.

          6                 I know that a vote by the Committee

          7  was expected today by this amended version, however,

          8  after another competing bill was introduced at the

          9  request of the Mayor on June 5th of this month, we

         10  decided that though this bill is not a product of

         11  compromise between the Council and the Mayor, on the

         12  contrary, it's a bill that runs counter, in many

         13  ways, to the spirit and intent of Intro. 102-A.

         14                 Let me just cite some of the areas of

         15  significant difference. Intro. 102-A mandates that

         16  all records be maintained by a public entity, such

         17  as DORIS or CUNY, whereas the Mayor's bill allows

         18  for control by a private organization.

         19                 The Mayor's proposal does not require

         20  any type of review or approval of an agreement with

         21  a non-DORIS entity, whereas Intro. 102-A requires

         22  legal review and approval of such agreements.

         23                 That legal approval must come from

         24  the Legal Department of which ever government agency

         25  from which the records began.
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          2                 The Administration's proposal

          3  requires members of the public to file a Freedom Of

          4  Information request, a FOIL, in order to access to

          5  these public records. The Council bill does not.

          6                 Finally, and most importantly, the

          7  Mayor's bill is not retroactive, so it would leave

          8  the so-called Giuliani papers in private hands.

          9                 We expect that there will be much

         10  discussion about the Mayor's bill at today's

         11  hearings, nonetheless, we must afford opportunity

         12  for it to get its own hearing before we vote on

         13  Intro. 102-A, and, therefore, we will postpone

         14  today's vote and we will reconvene as soon as

         15  possible to provide the public with an opportunity

         16  to hear about the Mayor's bill.

         17                 I want to again thank each and every

         18  one for your attendance today, and we look forward

         19  to your testimony with regard to 102-A. We will

         20  begin by hearing from Corp Counsel, Mr. Cardozo.

         21                 MS. FORD: Good afternoon, Mr.

         22  Cardozo.

         23                 MR. CARDOZO: Good afternoon.

         24                 MS. FORD: Good afternoon.

         25                 Would you please raise your right
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          2  hand to be sworn in.

          3                 So you solemnly swear that the

          4  testimony you're about to give is the whole truth

          5  and nothing but the truth?

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: I do.

          7                 MS. FORD: Thank you.

          8                 Please proceed.

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm Michael Cardozo,

         10  Corporation Counsel for the City of New York.

         11                 Since we have already testified on

         12  these issues, or I have testified on two occasions,

         13  I don't want to take up too much of your time. The

         14  reservations that we had with respect to 102 were

         15  expressed by me at some length at the hearing you

         16  had in April, and while you have made in 102-A some

         17  changes, I would like to briefly address what we see

         18  as remains the deficiencies in 102-A and we suggest

         19  at the same time that the Mayor's bill, which I

         20  think is Intro. No. 217 deals more appropriately

         21  with those issues, although as Councilman Perkins

         22  said, I understand you will be having another,

         23  perhaps another hearing on the Mayor's bill.

         24                 Obviously, the largest difference

         25  between our two bills is whether the bills should be
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          2  prospective or not. And for the reasons I testified

          3  to in April, we believe it is a violation of the

          4  City Charter for the bill to be effective

          5  retroactively.

          6                 And, frankly, whatever the problems

          7  that are foreseen to have existed under the Giuliani

          8  Agreement, really would not be dealt with by making

          9  this bill retroactive.

         10                 The fact of the matter is that the

         11  plan that was worked out between my office and the

         12  Giuliani Center provides total control with respect

         13  to who can see the documents, FOIL issues, and the

         14  like. Anyone who wants to see a document in the

         15  Giuliani archives can see it under a FOIL request.

         16  There's a contract that's being administered by a

         17  highly-regarded archival institution.

         18                 So, we don't believe, and we don't

         19  believe you have the power to legislate

         20  retroactively and curtail the Mayor's power the way

         21  102-A does, but given where we are, or where we were

         22  as of January 1, we don't think it would effect any

         23  change.

         24                 What we do think, and what I

         25  testified to in April is we should take the
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          2  opportunity that this controversy has given us to

          3  enact legislation that on a going forward basis

          4  could be something that could have held out to the

          5  entire country to emulate.

          6                 And in that regard, I would like to

          7  then move to the other areas of disagreement, major

          8  areas of disagreement, between our respective bills.

          9                 And let me start off, first, with the

         10  so-called FOIL issue, or public access issue, which

         11  Mr. Perkins referred to.

         12                 Our bill makes clear that during the

         13  archival process, while the records are being

         14  processed, the public would still be able to have

         15  access to the records under FOIL.

         16                 Intro 102-A is silent on that

         17  subject.

         18                 Now, I assume that doesn't mean that

         19  the public could not have access, and, therefore,

         20  because FOIL would still apply and therefore under

         21  both bills the public would have access pursuant to

         22  a FOIL request.

         23                 But our bill makes that point clear,

         24  and I think if you just ask yourselves for a moment,

         25  if tomorrow someone wanted to go to the LaGuardia

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            9

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  archives, and asked to see some City Council

          3  records, because I understand past City Council

          4  records are at LaGuardia, how long it would take to

          5  get those records. I think it might take a very,

          6  very long time.

          7                 The process we've set up within the

          8  Giuliani plan, and the process that we mandate in

          9  our proposed 217, would make it absolutely clear

         10  that any requests for documents by the public, while

         11  the archiving process is going on, that those

         12  requests would have to be responded to promptly.

         13                 And I emphasize that simply because

         14  on January 1st you switched mayors and you have a

         15  whole bunch of records that are being processed

         16  doesn't mean that anyone would want the general

         17  public to come in and see every single piece of

         18  paper. There would still be privacy concerns,

         19  security concerns, attorney/client concerns, and,

         20  so, you would still have to go through a process.

         21  Once the archival process is complete, that would be

         22  a different story.

         23                 So, one major difference that I

         24  suggest, 217 addresses more appropriately than

         25  102-A, is the FOIL issue.
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          2                 A second major issue, as Councilman

          3  Perkins pointed out, is what entity might take

          4  control or be contracted with by DORIS?

          5                 Our bill says it could be basically

          6  any entity, including colleges, universities and

          7  other educational institutions, and 102-A says it

          8  must be a -- it cannot be a private entity, and the

          9  way it's drafted, it would mean, if it was

         10  determined that Columbia University, for example, or

         11  NYU, or some other university should be the group

         12  that would be contracted with, 102-A would prohibit

         13  that. The only entity that could be contracted with

         14  under 102-A is a, quote, non-public -- non-private

         15  entity, in the way it's defined, that would prohibit

         16  any major educational institution other than a

         17  public institution.

         18                 It seems to us that to try to limit

         19  the discretion of the people in the future, to just

         20  enter into contracts with public institutions may be

         21  very shortsighted.

         22                 Hopefully the budget crisis, for

         23  example, that we face now will not be repeated in

         24  the future, but it could well be, and it may be in

         25  the City's economic interest to allow these
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          2  contracts to be entered into with private entities.

          3                 So, I suggest to the Committee that

          4  the limitation to non-private entities is misplaced.

          5                 Next, I would suggest that the

          6  various standards that should be included in any

          7  contract with an entity that DORIS might enter into,

          8  the standards, the requirements are really much more

          9  extensively set out in 217 than they are in 102. If

         10  you just compare 217, there's a series of standards

         11  that we have left out, seven or eight such

         12  standards, whereas 102-A has a much more limited

         13  list of standards, I think we're all agreed there

         14  should be such standards, and I would recommend to

         15  the Committee to review our bill, because I believe

         16  it would fill the desires of both of us in that

         17  regard more completely.

         18                 Your bill states -- excuse me, your

         19  bill -- 102-A states that the Law Department must

         20  approve any such contract and suggests that our bill

         21  is deficient in that regard. As a matter of the

         22  Charter, the Law Department has to approve as to

         23  form all such contracts, so I don't really think

         24  that's a distinction.

         25                 102-A provides that an agreement that
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          2  would be entered into could be entered into during

          3  the term of the elected official, and, therefore, I

          4  think the issue that you're trying to get at to

          5  prevent an elected official to enter into a contract

          6  affecting his records, is not addressed by your

          7  bill; whereas, 217 says such a contract could only

          8  be entered into -- could not be entered into by an

          9  official who is still in office.

         10                 So, that, too, I believe is better

         11  dealt with in 217.

         12                 And, so, I would suggest, for all of

         13  these reasons there are some other drafting issues

         14  as well, I would suggest to the Committee that we

         15  join together, as I said, in April, and try to

         16  fashion a bill more consistent with 217 than 102-A.

         17  And I'd be happy to answer any questions the

         18  Committee may have.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         20  much. I want to call on Councilwoman Eva Moskowitz.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         22  Mr. Chair.

         23                 I had a question for you, I wasn't

         24  quite sure I understood.

         25                 You were suggesting that the Mayor's
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          2  proposal, only after the archival process is

          3  complete, does the FOIL request kick in?

          4                 MR. CARDOZO: No, no, no. Let's assume

          5  a contract is entered into and the records are

          6  turned over to Columbia or LaGuardia, what have you.

          7  Those records remain City records, the FOIL process

          8  would kick in absolutely right away. What I was

          9  suggesting is once the archival process is complete,

         10  and records are presumably returned and a decision

         11  is made we can make these records public, then there

         12  would be obviously no need for any FOIL request to

         13  be made, once they are fully public.

         14                 But on January 1st, or January 10th,

         15  if the public wants to see some records ten days

         16  after administration leaves office, there has to be

         17  some process for someone to look at those records,

         18  and I think our bill does that, and I believe your

         19  bill is silent on that.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: So, you're

         21  suggesting that the difference, but the silence

         22  you're taking to mean that there would still be a

         23  FOIL request in place?

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: So there
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          2  isn't any difference?

          3                 MR. CARDOZO: I would suggest at the

          4  very least there's no difference. I would suggest

          5  it's appropriate to mandate so that whoever is going

          6  to enter into this contract would understand that it

          7  has an obligation, has a clear obligation, to

          8  continue to respond to FOIL requests, and I would

          9  suggest that your bill, because it is silent on the

         10  subject, may be slightly deficient in that regard.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: It was a

         12  little confusing because the New York Times seemed

         13  to indicate that there was a substantial difference

         14  on the issue of FOIL'g.

         15                 MR. CARDOZO: I read the same

         16  editorial that you did, I believe the New York Times

         17  to be mistaken on that.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to

         20  acknowledge the presence of Council Member Leroy

         21  Comrie. He was here.

         22                 Councilwoman Christine Quinn.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Thank you.

         24                 My question is kind of along the

         25  lines of Council Member Moskowitz' Freedom of
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          2  Information request provision.

          3                 Today, let's say Mayor Koch's papers,

          4  if someone wanted to see those, what do they have to

          5  do?

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, I don't know today

          7  if those records are at Columbia or in DORIS.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well, let's do

          9  both.

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: Okay.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Let's for

         12  argument's sake say that they are under the control

         13  of DORIS, what would somebody have to do?

         14                 MR. CARDOZO: If they are not archives

         15  in any system, they would have to call up DORIS and

         16  say, can we see the Koch records? And if Koch has,

         17  depending upon the timing, because now, what, 20

         18  years have elapsed, it may be that DORIS, as a rule,

         19  anyone who wants to see anything from the KOCH years

         20  can see it, but if, in fact, there are health

         21  records of Koch employees, if there are attorney

         22  advice letters to Mayor Koch that are in those

         23  files, DORIS could not release those documents until

         24  they have reviewed them.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I'm sorry,
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          2  there seems to be like a little bit of a lack of 100

          3  percent in what you were saying.

          4                 I mean, at one point you said you

          5  didn't know if DORIS had a rule.

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: I don't know, if someone

          7  said I want to see Mayor LaGuardia's records or

          8  Mayor Koch's records, I am not familiar with what

          9  DORIS does.

         10                 I would say to you that good practice

         11  would dictate that if those records have not gone

         12  through the archival process and judgments made as

         13  to whether or not they should be fully public, it

         14  would be inconsistent with everyone's interest for

         15  DORIS to simply release those records to the public.

         16                 And it's a better example I think to

         17  say, if someone said to DORIS or the Giuliani

         18  Center, I want to see all records from the Police

         19  Department on September 12th, 2001, I don't think

         20  there's a person in this country who would expect

         21  that DORIS would open the doors and say come on in.

         22  They have to have been looked at by somebody, and

         23  that's what the FOIL process would result in.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I guess, I mean

         25  I think September 12th is probably the potentially
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          2  most kind of extreme example that could be raised. I

          3  guess the heart of my question relates to does the

          4  FOIL process, which is part of Mayor Bloomberg's

          5  legislation, does it create a new system that is in

          6  fact more burdensome, and, if you will, exclusive to

          7  the public and to historians than what we presently

          8  have.

          9                 And the heart of my concern is, has,

         10  what I think was a very incorrect and inappropriate,

         11  to be kind, actions on the part of former Mayor

         12  Giuliani, will they then result in a law and have

         13  they resulted in an introduction, a proposed law,

         14  which in fact is more burdensome on the public, and

         15  will this inappropriate action potentially result in

         16  us enacting a law which blocks the public's ability

         17  to get the papers, and is this law stricter and more

         18  exclusive than what we presently have? Because I

         19  think that would be a result that would certainly be

         20  counter to all of the testimony and all of the

         21  outcry that we've heard. So, that's what I'm trying

         22  to understand, as it relates to this FOIL

         23  obligation.

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: Okay, let me try -- I

         25  think that's an excellent question, let me try to
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          2  address it, if I can. And I think, because I'm not

          3  familiar with the Koch situation, let me try to

          4  bring --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: He was random.

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: I understand that.

          7                 And I think, if I can start by

          8  saying, I think we have to look at two distinct

          9  periods; one is the period, let's say two or three

         10  years after a Mayor is in office, and a much later

         11  period.

         12                 Let's take, first, the immediate

         13  period, if you will.

         14                 If we're all agreed that on January

         15  1st, when the new Mayor takes office, that it is

         16  inappropriate to assume that the public can just

         17  come in and look at everything, and I think, using

         18  my September 12th example, we would agree with that;

         19  what is, therefore, supposed to happen in that

         20  instance? And I believe that the law is, and the

         21  practice is, that you have records, just like you

         22  had records on December 31, and the public, if they

         23  want to see those records, would file a FOIL

         24  request, and those records would be processed. That

         25  would be true if we didn't have any Giuliani
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          2  controversy, if we had none of these bills here, if

          3  Rudy Giuliani had left office and not entered into

          4  the contract and someone wanted to see those

          5  records, you have to do something to get at them.

          6  And our bill simply makes absolutely clear what

          7  would be done.

          8                 102-A is silent on it. I agree with

          9  you that that would be the same process.

         10                 I do think in entering into any

         11  contract we've got to be sure that the public can

         12  have immediate access subject to FOIL.

         13                 Now, three years down the road, let's

         14  assume the records are all processed and archived,

         15  if they're archived, then the judgment is made as a

         16  matter of archival process that the records, that

         17  there's no security concerns, there's no

         18  attorney/client concerns, there's no privacy

         19  concerns, and those records, as archived, are made

         20  public, then there will be no need to serve a FOIL

         21  request, but in that interim period there's got to

         22  be some process.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Presently that

         24  interim period, how ever long it takes today, you

         25  have to file a FOIL with whatever --
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          2                 MR. CARDOZO: I believe so.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: There's no FOIL

          4  requirement today in the present DORIS process.

          5                 MR. CARDOZO: I have to say,

          6  Councilman, that if the Giuliani records had

          7  remained where they were in City Hall, it's

          8  inconceivable to me that someone could have walked

          9  into DORIS and seen the papers. Or if the Giuliani

         10  records had employment histories of personnel

         11  applicants and someone revealed some private medical

         12  condition, it's inconceivable to me that DORIS would

         13  release them, and I don't think anybody here would

         14  expect them to be released.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: It may be

         16  inconceivable, but I believe you're wrong.

         17                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, if I'm wrong then

         18  I think that's a weakness in the process, because I

         19  think people are entitled to the privacy of their

         20  medical records, people are entitled to be sure that

         21  the Police Department's security concerns are going

         22  to be safeguarded, the people are entitled to know

         23  that an attorney/client communication from the

         24  lawyer for the Mayor to the Mayor is kept

         25  confidential to protect the City from enormous
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          2  liability, and I don't think it's in the interest of

          3  anybody in this City to expect that those records

          4  would be released.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I don't think

          6  we're talking about the personal type of example

          7  that you're citing.

          8                 I think that the public records that

          9  we're concerned about are the ones where a FOIL is

         10  not required.

         11                 MR. CARDOZO: I don't know how you

         12  define that without more.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Well --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Maybe we might

         15  have to, but I don't think that -- in this instance

         16  the FOIL is not required.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: If I could

         18  request, because the way it is today may not be

         19  adequate. You know, that's not an inappropriate

         20  question, but I am interested, as I kind of have to

         21  judge these pieces of legislation, understanding

         22  what exactly the situation is today, what exactly is

         23  the requirements or burden or whatever on the public

         24  today with the laws on the books to see papers

         25  prearchival and post-archival, so I can then make a
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          2  comparison as to how the two pieces of legislation

          3  relate to the present law.

          4                 So, I would like to request, and it

          5  may be that that request has to be put to the DORIS

          6  Commissioner, as opposed to you, sir, information on

          7  what that present situation, right or wrong or

          8  indifferent, what it is.

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: I will certainly

         10  endeavor to speak to Mr. Andersson and be able to

         11  supply you with that information. And I think maybe

         12  another way to look at this is, if someone wanted

         13  Speaker Vallone's records from December 30th, 2001,

         14  what process would have to be followed to obtain

         15  those today.

         16                 I don't know the answer to that, I

         17  assume probably you would, or Mr. Vallone.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: I've actually

         19  never, having only been in office since '99, never

         20  engaged in collecting my papers, so I would not

         21  know, I would assume come term limits when I'm under

         22  such obligation, I'll find out what my requirements

         23  are, but I actually don't know.

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: But I think the

         25  principle that we are, I think, agreed upon, is
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          2  there has to be a process, while the archival

          3  process is going forward, in that two- or three-year

          4  period, there's going to be a need for the records.

          5  There's going to be a governmental need, and there's

          6  going to be a public need. There has to be a way to

          7  get at the records and withhold the records that

          8  should be withheld, be it security or privacy or

          9  what have you.

         10                 That's what 217 was trying to get at

         11  in saying FOIL would apply, and I think the 102-A

         12  does not address that issue.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER QUINN: Yes, as I

         14  disagree with that, I guess I'm not -- I don't

         15  believe I can say that we don't today have a process

         16  that is -- I'm not sure the process today doesn't

         17  meet that need, and I want to be careful that we're

         18  not driven to a new process by actions which I

         19  believe were grossly inappropriate.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to return

         22  to Councilwoman Moskowitz, on a follow-up, to be

         23  followed by Councilman Nelson.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

         25  Mr. Chair.
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          2                 I just felt the need to step in

          3  because I'm getting radically through Council Member

          4  Quinn's good questioning, radically different

          5  response, as I asked whether there was any

          6  difference in the bills, in terms of FOIL'g, and it

          7  appears that you're saying that there must be,

          8  although you don't know, some process that DORIS

          9  exercises, so as not to give over willy-nilly all

         10  the information, and in your bill, a FOIL process,

         11  which is a very particular kind of process, is

         12  imposed.

         13                 And it's a little disappointing that

         14  you don't know what the DORIS, and I realize you're

         15  not an archivist and so forth, but if a law is being

         16  proposed that has to do with a process, and you

         17  don't know what the current process is, and these

         18  are issues that matter, I haven't given over any

         19  papers, but I have worked in archives, and it's very

         20  frustrating when you're requesting things and not

         21  able to get them.

         22                 So, how you request them, and what

         23  criteria are used to determine whether you get those

         24  documents or not, are very serious matters. And I

         25  think what I'm hearing you saying is that you don't
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          2  know what criteria DORIS currently uses, but the

          3  Chair has said that it's not a FOIL process, it's

          4  some other kind of judgment that is used, so I

          5  presume personal medical records or things protected

          6  by attorney privilege are not released, but you

          7  don't know more than that.

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, we're assuming

          9  that they have a specific process, but if we're both

         10  agreed, security won't be produced, FOIL won't be

         11  produced, attorney/client won't be produced, those

         12  are the standards, and there's a few others, in the

         13  FOIL law, and everything else must be produced, and

         14  that's why we felt, on a going forward basis, FOIL

         15  is a well established law, as it's underlying theory

         16  that the public should get everything but for these

         17  categories, and, so, let's write it into the law.

         18  And if you don't put something into the law, FOIL

         19  would still apply, unless specifically excluded, I'm

         20  not even sure it could be, and, so we just wanted to

         21  make it absolutely clear.

         22                 And I don't see how, whatever the

         23  process may be for Dinkins' or Koch records, I don't

         24  see how Brian Andersson, the Commissioner of DORIS,

         25  could violate privacy concerns, and I'm not
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          2  suggesting he would.

          3                 So, we just thought mandating it into

          4  the process is absolutely the clearest and best

          5  thing to do from the point of view of the public,

          6  because the public will be sure that it will be able

          7  to get these records.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MOSKOWITZ: Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chair, for allowing the follow-up.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you. We

         11  did invite Commissioner Andersson here, and I'm

         12  sorry he couldn't make it, but it's our

         13  understanding that we're looking for records that

         14  were produced during official work and activities,

         15  so the kinds of records, again, that you're

         16  suggesting, might not be the records that would be

         17  at DORIS or even at the Giuliani archives.

         18                 So, unless they were produced in the

         19  course of official activity, official business, they

         20  would not be the records we would be seeking, that

         21  this bill, either of these bills, I'm sure, are not

         22  trying to address.

         23                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, Mr. Perkins, I do

         24  think the Police Department memoranda to the Mayor

         25  on September 12th are official records, and I think
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          2  that personnel applications to the Mayor are

          3  official records, and letters, attorney/client

          4  letters to the Mayor are official records and they

          5  would all be presumably in the Mayor's

          6  correspondence and memos and I don't think we have a

          7  dispute that they should not be produced.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 Council Member Nelson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Thank you, Mr.

         12  Chair.

         13                 Mr. Cardozo, I didn't like the way

         14  the records left City Hall, but having said that,

         15  the retroactive portion of 102-A also doesn't sit

         16  well with me as well.

         17                 I also read somewhere's that you may

         18  be the only attorney who finds this perhaps to be

         19  illegal, to go retroactive, while some other

         20  attorneys have not, and I understand, you know, how

         21  that could be argued both ways, too.

         22                 Could you cite any other attorneys

         23  that would agree with you, professionals in that

         24  area?

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: I don't make it a
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          2  practice, Mr. Nelson, to survey the bar to see

          3  whether or not they agree with my legal analysis.

          4                 I do think that drawing on the

          5  expertise of the Law Department, as I testified last

          6  time, we believe that the bill as drafted, making

          7  this statute effective 2001, would not only be

          8  improper because of its retroactivity, but would be

          9  an improper curtailment of Mayor power.

         10                 We've all had litigation in the past

         11  on that issue, we hope very much, as I've discussed

         12  with Ms. Ford, on a number of occasions, to avoid

         13  that kind of litigation in the future. But we are

         14  very firmly of the belief that to make this bill

         15  retroactive, as you say, would be improper.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I sort of

         17  agree with that portion of it, I just would like to

         18  have more backing in that respect.

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, the Charter spells

         20  out certain powers of the Mayor, including entering

         21  various contracts, and to say that a contract that

         22  was entered into with the Mayor, by the Mayor or the

         23  Mayor's designee, in December of 2001, to pass

         24  legislation a year later that says that was

         25  improper, in our view is an improper curtailment of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            29

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  Mayoral authority.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Okay. Yes,

          4  because somehow I see that as perhaps being more

          5  punitive than principles. This is a feeling I'm

          6  going through right now.

          7                 MR. CARDOZO: I would just add to

          8  that, to what we're trying to get at, and we're

          9  trying to get at, if I understand it, to be sure

         10  that appropriate -- that records are going to be

         11  retained, archived, people will have access to them,

         12  and all of those issues I think is what we're trying

         13  collectively to address, and to try to legislate

         14  retroactively, I just think doesn't get at the

         15  problem.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: About how much

         17  do you think it would cost in taxpayer dollars

         18  yearly for this, privately funded?

         19                 MR. CARDOZO: You mean if the Giuliani

         20  contract had not been entered into and DORIS had

         21  done it?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Right.

         23                 MR. CARDOZO: We had an estimate at

         24  one point in time.

         25                 Obviously, the Giuliani plan provides
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          2  if they're going to have two full-time archivists,

          3  two part-time archivists, a storage facility, that

          4  it's going to take three years, we all can do the

          5  math, and then in insurance, we can all do the math

          6  and realize that that's a cost DORIS would otherwise

          7  be incurring, and because of the financial problems

          8  of the City, we also know that records including, I

          9  think Mayor Beame, I think have not yet even been

         10  archived. And, so, this would be a huge advantage to

         11  be able to have this private funding.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Okay, thank

         13  you, Mr. Cardozo.

         14                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Councilman Reed,

         16  followed by Councilman Vallone.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chair. I apologize for being a little bit late,

         19  there are a lot of hearings today.

         20                 I think everybody on this Committee

         21  is trying to do the right thing. I think there are

         22  obviously some immediate issues, not the least of

         23  which is this problem of the retroactive component,

         24  but I think many people in the City of New York, not

         25  just the Council, but the citizens of the people
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          2  that we represent, hundreds of thousands of them

          3  were outraged at what happened and the arrogance of

          4  it.

          5                 So, I do think there's a relevance to

          6  the issue. I don't know if it has legal relevance,

          7  but I do think that there is significant relevance

          8  to it, and we've never, ever seen that behavior

          9  before.

         10                 And I do think that what we're trying

         11  to do is to define something that is really

         12  long-term and helps us. We have a brand new Council,

         13  and there's a lot of history in the making here, and

         14  a lot of us, I think even on the Council, are

         15  potentially looking for guidance, so people say, you

         16  know, what would amount to Council members' papers,

         17  but I'm looking through a document that Speaker

         18  Vallone put together in some anniversary back in

         19  2001 and it's a history of the City Council, that's

         20  actually very informative.

         21                 And on the inside of it is a list of

         22  Council members since 1938, and there's a rather

         23  illustrious list of people in here, Adam Clayton

         24  Powell, Benjamin Davis, Ted Weiss. I didn't realize

         25  that Vito Fossella's father had been in the City
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          2  Council, he is now a Congressman. So, if this is

          3  even the start of somebody's political career, or it

          4  could be the end of it, there is a significant

          5  relevance to what's going on in their lives, and I

          6  think I know personally, I'm asking myself to this,

          7  what would I like to see? What are my personal

          8  papers? What is it that if I'm not here, not only am

          9  I supposed to leave, but what would cause my family

         10  embarrassment, all of these issues.

         11                 And, so, I think in resolving this

         12  matter, and I appreciate that the Chair has really

         13  brought the question to our attention, because I

         14  don't think a lot of us knew what to do, and, so,

         15  maybe we ought to thank -- God help that I should

         16  say this -- the previous Mayor for making this issue

         17  relevant in our lives.

         18                 Having said that, in trying to find

         19  some balance, and sometimes in legislation and with

         20  all due respect to lawyers, common sense quickly

         21  gets thrown in the dust bin. I'm completely opposed

         22  to this FOIL thing. I was doing just fine with your

         23  legislation until Council Member Perkins was kind

         24  enough to put together the pros of what's the

         25  difference between it, and the whole concept of a
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          2  FOIL I think just violates anything people have in

          3  their mind about fairness and openness.

          4                 But I'm just curious, I mean I can

          5  understand some process, and I asked our attorney,

          6  if I were to go and look at somebody's papers, or to

          7  say I'm a researcher, 99 percent of this I'm sure is

          8  a researcher, and at some reasonable period of time

          9  to say I want to look at these papers about such and

         10  such, wouldn't it be reasonable to say that in 48

         11  hours? I didn't hear you say a time frame for FOILs,

         12  and as soon as you say we've got to go to court, I'm

         13  looking at months here, if not years.

         14                 MR. CARDOZO: FOIL doesn't require you

         15  to go to court.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Well, you

         17  start ending up down that road. You get into a legal

         18  matter with people.

         19                 So, I'm looking to see what is your

         20  time frame.

         21                 Maybe the best question for me to ask

         22  you is, what kind of time frame do you think is

         23  reasonable or unreasonable?

         24                 MR. CARDOZO: And I think, and we've

         25  already had some experience, it depends upon the
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          2  breadth of the request.

          3                 If you asked for every piece of paper

          4  relating to a particular subject covering eight

          5  years of the Giuliani Administration, and you have

          6  to look for those papers in literally thousands of

          7  documents, thousands of cartons, it's obviously

          8  going to take longer to look for that than if you

          9  said do I want to see Peter Powers' correspondence

         10  in January of --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But you haven't

         12  said what longer is, longer to what? A week?

         13                 MR. CARDOZO: If you have Peter

         14  Powers' correspondence for January 2001, it might

         15  just take a week, but eight years of correspondence

         16  is going to take a lot longer. I mean, just think of

         17  the volume of material that you're talking about.

         18  And whether you ask for those documents on December

         19  31, or January 1, is going to take you a long time

         20  if it's a large volume of documents, and if you're

         21  asking for a very narrow precise category, it's

         22  going to take less time.

         23                 That's what the FOIL law requires. I

         24  think we're getting hung up, perhaps, on the phrase

         25  "FOIL." We're agreed, you've got to get a process.
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          2  We're agreed you're not going to violate privacy

          3  concerns and things like that. So, there's got to be

          4  some process. There is a well-established process

          5  under New York State law called FOIL, which has

          6  categories of which you don't have to produce

          7  documents, you have to acknowledge receipt in five

          8  days, you have to properly --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: You have to

         10  acknowledge receipt of what in five days?

         11                 MR. CARDOZO: Receipt of the FOIL

         12  request in five days under the law, and then you

         13  have to promptly, within reasonable time, I forget

         14  the way it's phrased, produce the documents. That's

         15  the way we have been proceeding under the Giuliani

         16  papers now, under the plan that's been worked out,

         17  that's the historic way, I recognize that there had

         18  been problems under the prior Administration with

         19  the application of FOIL. This Administration is

         20  doing its very best, and I don't believe there's

         21  been any criticism.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: What's the time

         23  frame? You keep telling me everybody is doing their

         24  best. We just got through reading an expose' about

         25  somebody in the housing business that worked for the
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          2  City of New York, it took three years --

          3                 MR. CARDOZO: It took two weeks from

          4  the time this Administration --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: In your

          6  Administration.

          7                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But that's my

          9  question. We're trying to get rid of this, you know,

         10  dependent on who the Mayor is, so what is

         11  reasonable? That's what I'm trying to understand.

         12                 MR. CARDOZO: And without knowing what

         13  the volume of paper is that's requested, Mr. Reed,

         14  if we asked for your records for ten years, it would

         15  take longer, and I don't know how your files are

         16  kept, and I don't know the volume of your documents,

         17  and if it asks for one piece of paper and it defined

         18  a carton.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Well, I think

         20  that that's part of the crux of it, and, of course,

         21  it's hard to define a spirit in the law, which is

         22  what I think Council Member Perkins' legislation

         23  feels that there was a spirit of trust that was

         24  violated in this, so we're trying to correct that. I

         25  think that's also part of the problem. But at the
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          2  end of this process, whether it's these two dualing

          3  bills, and we've worked something out, I hope we

          4  have come up with some definition of what is

          5  reasonable.

          6                 If you're saying to me I want ten

          7  years of papers, maybe you start giving it to them

          8  year by year so people can at least begin to examine

          9  stuff, I don't know.

         10                 MR. CARDOZO: That may well be. I

         11  think it's going to depend upon what you're talking

         12  about. Presumably a Councilman's records, or a

         13  Deputy Mayor's records, are going to be less

         14  expensive than the Mayor's records.

         15                 But if you take, there's literally

         16  thousands and thousands of cartons of Giuliani

         17  records, that would be true whether they were at

         18  Gold Street, or under the Surrogates Court or some

         19  place else.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I understand

         21  that. But, you know, even within the campaign

         22  finance, and then I'll finish, Mr. Chair, but even

         23  within the campaign finance some of us find

         24  ourselves caught up in rules and regulations that

         25  they've put in place all candidates, irrespective of
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          2  the size of the office that they're running for. So,

          3  there's imposition of things that we feel is

          4  overburdensome, but we're an elected official, so we

          5  fall under the came caveat that the Mayor does.

          6                 I think what we're trying to do is

          7  define, again, something that is reasonable. Would

          8  it be fair to say, or perhaps we should be looking

          9  at putting a time frame in the law that all Mayoral

         10  papers need to be archived by thus period of time,

         11  six months, a two-year period of time?

         12                 If you're telling me that Mayor

         13  Beame's papers still haven't been archived, then I

         14  want to question what we've been paying DORIS to do.

         15  And maybe then, you know, you mandate that the new

         16  Mayor put enough money in the budget in that agency

         17  to actually do it, because that's a good way to

         18  prevent people from looking at the history of the

         19  City of New York, if you don't allow the agency that

         20  has the responsibility to do this enough money to do

         21  it in a timely fashion, then you prevent -- well, it

         22  hasn't been archived yet, you can't see it.

         23                 So, maybe we ought to write into the

         24  Charter, or into some law that within X number of

         25  period of time, all these papers from the Mayor and
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          2  thus then down the line, have to be archived. And

          3  therefore, meaning there has to be enough money, of

          4  however it is done, it needs to be done by then;

          5  what would you think about that?

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, I think it would

          7  relate to the question of where the money is going

          8  to come from, because we've all just struggled

          9  through, fortunately successfully, our budget

         10  process, and if you said, well, we're going to have

         11  to take $2 million out of the budget to archive the

         12  records, and instead we're going to have to, as a

         13  result we're going to have to close the senior

         14  citizen center, something like that, I think people

         15  would debate that's a wrong way to allocate the

         16  money, especially if the potential alternative was

         17  to have that archiving done by private funds.

         18                 So, I think it would be very

         19  dangerous to have, in effect, an unfunded mandate

         20  written in without being able to know what the

         21  budget implications are.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: But in principle

         23  you wouldn't disagree with the idea of having a time

         24  frame under which these papers have to be archived?

         25                 MR. CARDOZO: You switch from the time
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          2  to be archived, versus the time to respond to a FOIL

          3  request.

          4                 My understanding is --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: I'm allowed to

          6  do that.

          7                 MR. CARDOZO: Oh, absolutely.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Yes.

          9                 MR. CARDOZO: It's your prerogative to

         10  ask both questions.

         11                 I think it's in everyone's interest

         12  to have these records archived promptly. My

         13  understanding is that the two- or three-year period

         14  set out in the Giuliani plan was much quicker than

         15  any of the predecessor plans that existed.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER REED: Because Mr.

         17  Giuliani didn't put any money in the budget for

         18  eight years for DORIS to do their work, now wasn't

         19  that convenient? So, we couldn't find the relevance

         20  of what Beame did or what Dinkins did or what Koch

         21  did. That's half of the problem right there, and

         22  that was a choice he made. What was that all about?

         23  Maybe it was innocent, maybe it wasn't, but therein

         24  lies the problem.

         25                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Council Member

          3  Vallone.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you.

          5                 Mr. Cardozo, if you would like

          6  Speaker Vallone's papers, you probably should just

          7  ask me because I keep finding them in my closets, I

          8  can't get rid of them.

          9                 Regarding the DORIS request, I did

         10  speak with DORIS and I was told that you can just

         11  make a request for the paperwork and receive them.

         12  And if you don't receive them because they're deemed

         13  confidential, then you need to go through the FOIL

         14  system. That's what I was told, I'm not sure how

         15  accurate it is, but that's my knowledge.

         16                 I'm also not happy about what

         17  happened with the Giuliani papers, and I commend our

         18  Chair for having this hearing to look into it.

         19  However, I do have some serious questions regarding

         20  the constitutionality of a retroactive bill.

         21                 I am an attorney and I understand we

         22  can do that and if it's necessary to prevent

         23  substantial harm from occurring basically is the

         24  synopsis of it. The way I see this issue from a

         25  legal standpoint, the harm has been done, in that
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          2  these papers were taken away. If we were going to

          3  pass a law we would have to prove that there was

          4  some ongoing harm by the fact that these papers were

          5  not in our possession right now.

          6                 As you said, they may come back to

          7  our possession quicker than they would have under

          8  other circumstances, and I don't want to pass a bill

          9  which we will wind up wasting taxpayer money in

         10  court with. If we can avoid it, and that's why I

         11  commend you also, Mr. Chairman, for your spirit of

         12  compromise here, by holding off a vote and trying to

         13  work this out as best we can.

         14                 My question to you, though, is,

         15  regarding the question of ongoing harm, do you have

         16  an opinion regarding its existence or lack of

         17  existence?

         18                 MR. CARDOZO: I don't believe that

         19  there is any ongoing harm, for a couple of reasons.

         20  The archiving is going forward, is going forward

         21  much more rapidly than it would otherwise, leaving

         22  aside Mr. Reed's point that maybe funding should

         23  have been put in the budget, but given where we are

         24  today, the archiving is going forward in a much more

         25  rapid schedule than it otherwise would.
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          2                 We have an established process with

          3  the papers that are out in Queens, so that whenever

          4  there is a FOIL request, the FOIL request is

          5  promptly dealt with, the papers, with the person in

          6  my office, along with a person at the Giuliani --

          7  where the records are being kept who immediately

          8  look for the documents and they are produced, so I

          9  can't perceive of how there is any harm. If there is

         10  a need, as there from time to time may be for

         11  governmental access to the papers because they were

         12  late to some ongoing matter, we can immediately get

         13  that. We've worked out all the inevitable kinds that

         14  a new system would have, so I can't conceive that

         15  there's any problem at all going forward, and as the

         16  archiving is complete, the original records are

         17  going to be returned to DORIS.

         18                 So, I think right now, and, again,

         19  whether Michael Bloomberg would have entered into

         20  this contract on December 28th is not the issue

         21  before us. I think given where we are right now the

         22  process is working fine.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I think we

         24  can agree that it's better to pass a bill now to set

         25  some standards in place so this never happens again
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          2  than pass a bill that we can't agree on that we'll

          3  wind up in court and may very well result in having

          4  absolutely no standards still in place down the

          5  road. So, I thank you for your testimony today.

          6                 MR. CARDOZO: If I may just add one

          7  thing, Mr. Vallone. And you made the point, and,

          8  again, I don't know the precise answer.

          9                 If we want to say, if there's a

         10  request for a document, DORIS can honor it, and if

         11  it doesn't honor it, you then can serve a FOIL

         12  request. If that's our dispute, I think we could

         13  resolve that one pretty quickly. I'd like to look at

         14  the language but I think we can resolve that.

         15                 I'm not anxious. I'm not anxious, Mr.

         16  Reed, to make people go through the formalities when

         17  there's no need to.

         18                 If someone calls up a City agency and

         19  says, hey, I'd like a copy of X, which they're fully

         20  entitled to, we don't make it a habit of saying, oh,

         21  we're not going to give it to you unless you serve a

         22  FOIL request.

         23                 Now, that can happen from time to

         24  time, and then you can make a FOIL request, but

         25  people shouldn't have to make a FOIL request just to
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          2  serve another piece of paper.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: We agree

          4  completely on that. Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          6  much.

          7                 You know the former Administration

          8  constantly threatened litigation as a way of

          9  preventing folks from moving forward with

         10  legislation, or other types of activities, and it

         11  went beyond the threat, it was the most litigious

         12  Administration in the history of the City of New

         13  York, and we would not want this Administration to

         14  continue in that spirit of government in which you

         15  threatened to go to court, unless you get the kind

         16  of legislation or whatever that you want; number

         17  one.

         18                 Number two: I think the times to some

         19  extent help answer the Councilman's question with

         20  regard to the ongoing harm when they say "but even

         21  with assurances that the documents will not be

         22  destroyed, questions about the credibility and

         23  completeness of his records will always remain." The

         24  damage is captured there, and the continuing damage

         25  is represented there as well.
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          2                 So, there is a legal basis, if only

          3  in that quote, in terms of the ongoing credibility

          4  issues, assurances that the public is going to have

          5  with regard to those records and whether or not

          6  they've been destroyed or whether or not they're

          7  still going to be tampered with.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Just from a

          9  legal standpoint, I did read that, and there's a

         10  huge legal difference between perceived harm and the

         11  possibility of harm and actual harm, which is what

         12  we have to prove, and that's why I said that.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: No, I appreciate

         14  that, and obviously not having the records, it's

         15  going to be hard to prove it, you know what I mean?

         16  We need the facts to prove it.

         17                 But be that as it may, let me go to

         18  now Councilwoman Provenzano.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER PROVENZANO: Thank you,

         20  Mr. Chair.

         21                 I'm not even sure I have a question

         22  but I certainly do have a few comments. For one, one

         23  of my colleagues suggested that Mayor Giuliani did

         24  not put money in for DORIS, possibly reason being

         25  had in mind what he wanted to do with his papers.
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          2  But obviously there was not enough money for DORIS

          3  going back to Koch or Beame or anybody else, because

          4  their papers are still sitting around not being

          5  processed, there must not have been money there for

          6  a good long time.

          7                 I would also like to thank my

          8  colleague Council Member Vallone for clearing how we

          9  could get a hold of Vallone, your father's records,

         10  I've just been dying to get a hold of them. Also,

         11  the whole FOIL thing.

         12                 I also have a problem with the

         13  retroactivity of the bill. I think we all realize

         14  that our former Mayor had quite an ego, and I think

         15  that more than likely his desire to do what he did

         16  was that he wanted his documents to be documented in

         17  a timely manner, and the way he wanted them, I guess

         18  so. But who's to say that even previous Mayors, or

         19  Council members, or what have you, when they're

         20  turning in their documents don't go through those

         21  documents and say, well, I'm not going to give them

         22  this, I'm not going to give them that, this looks

         23  bad, that looks bad, we have no guarantee that any

         24  of them didn't do that.

         25                 I think that what we should do, since

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            48

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  there is such a hoopla over what the former Mayor

          3  did, is just move on from that point. It's raised

          4  the issue that now we need a formal process, and

          5  that's really what we're trying to do here today,

          6  instead of constantly beating up on what's happened,

          7  let's just move forward and try and get a consensus,

          8  I would hope, of the two bills, since I think

          9  there's some good and bad in each one. And that's

         10  all I have to say.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         12  much, Councilwoman.

         13                 Councilman Comrie. And then we'll go

         14  to the next panel.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman.

         17                 Good afternoon, Mr. Cardozo.

         18                 I have a question. You said that the

         19  papers were being archived at present, have there

         20  been requests for the papers so far?

         21                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes. Under FOIL, yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Under FOIL?

         23                 MR. CARDOZO: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Have any of

         25  those requests been granted?
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          2                 MR. CARDOZO: I think they all have

          3  been, first acknowledged, and all of them, the

          4  documents requested, many of them have been totally

          5  produced, again, subject to the volume, which we had

          6  an interchange about. There may be some that the

          7  records are still being looked for, but I think

          8  we've had about a half a dozen requests, and perhaps

          9  one that's still outstanding, but otherwise they've

         10  all still been complied with.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: None have been

         12  rejected for any reason?

         13                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, there may be

         14  certain documents that have not been produced

         15  because they come within one of the exempt

         16  categories of FOIL, such as the example as I used

         17  before. But other than that, they have all been

         18  complied with.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I understand

         20  the concerns about retroactivity, and if you recall,

         21  my original concern was that the damage was already

         22  done, and the transfer of the records, we don't know

         23  what was lost or what was taken and removed from the

         24  permanent records, so my concern would be more to

         25  the ability of people to be able to access the
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          2  records quickly, because I'm sure with all of the

          3  interest that was generated, by his refusal to be

          4  open during this Administration, there are a lot of

          5  people with a lot of questions about how government

          6  was created under that administration, and how

          7  decisions were made, and I think that's the basis of

          8  the reason why we want to be able to get these

          9  records out to the public as quickly as possible.

         10                 My interest also, you keep bringing

         11  up the fact that the records for the other Mayors

         12  have not been archived properly yet, but haven't

         13  they had requests for documentation or papers and

         14  haven't all those requests been honored and

         15  responded to?

         16                 MR. CARDOZO: I'm sure a good faith

         17  effort has been made, but depending upon the status

         18  for the records, just to physically find the

         19  particular document, if they have not been archived

         20  it may just be, you know, literally impossible to

         21  find a 20- or 30-year-old record.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. But the

         23  difference between then and now is that a lot of

         24  these records are actually on disk, though, aren't

         25  they? Is part of the archiving the storage of
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          2  computer materials or computer-related materials?

          3                 MR. CARDOZO: Oh, sure. Absolutely,

          4  yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Okay. So,

          6  there would be some natural organization to that

          7  which would make this process a lot quicker?

          8                 MR. CARDOZO: One would think. I'm not

          9  familiar with exactly how much was on computer disk

         10  in the Giuliani Administration.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Right. And

         12  we'll never know how much there was because we never

         13  had an inventory, as I recall, from earlier

         14  testimony. So, we don't really know how much was

         15  generated vis-a-vis how much was actually utilized

         16  during his eight-year Administration. So, we'll

         17  never have those questions answered as to what his

         18  final product was before they decided to generate

         19  their own policy.

         20                 I came a little late, and I think you

         21  answered this at an earlier meeting as towards the

         22  process, and part of the problem here was that we

         23  were concerned, or at least I was concerned, about

         24  the opportunity for the Administration to make

         25  midnight policies to protect their own legacy. And
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          2  part of this bill was to actually try to make sure

          3  that that did not happen in the future.

          4                 And that's really my main focus, is

          5  that we want to make sure that, and I think you had

          6  indicated at the earlier hearing that Mayor

          7  Bloomberg was interested in focusing on trying to

          8  end that midnight type of policy where an

          9  administration could try to change the process for a

         10  normal rule to, I don't want to say hide or

         11  obfuscate or protect whatever they feel their legacy

         12  is, but, you know, I think that's what our main

         13  focus is here.

         14                 We want to be able to protect history

         15  and make sure the history is fairly collected, and

         16  if we don't have the opportunity to create a policy

         17  that is open and honest, then we won't be able to

         18  protect it.

         19                 And to be honest, we'll never know

         20  everything that was in those records, in my opinion,

         21  in my humble opinion, before they were taken to Long

         22  Island City or wherever they are now, and I would

         23  just hope that, as part of the final agreement that

         24  we do make it every opportunity for people to have

         25  to get as much public access to those records
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          2  without going through FOIL, because I don't believe

          3  that the other Administration requests, even though

          4  they may not be totally archived, have had the

          5  number of foil requests that I would believe that

          6  would be coming under the Giuliani Administration.

          7  And this whole idea of FOIL'g every request seems to

          8  only contribute to his legacy of non-cooperation. I

          9  don't think that at this point we want to continue

         10  that either.

         11                 So, those are my three concerns.

         12                 MR. CARDOZO: Well, if I could just

         13  briefly respond to that?

         14                 First of all, Councilman, I may have

         15  said this before you came in, the Mayor's bill

         16  provides that no agreement could be entered into by

         17  the affected Administration; in other words, it

         18  would have to be the next Administration that would

         19  enter into the agreement, and I would suggest your

         20  bill, the Council bill 102-A does not have that

         21  provision, and I would suggest that our bill would

         22  more address your concern on that point.

         23                 And, secondly, on this, just to

         24  perhaps end on this note with respect to FOIL, I do

         25  believe that the concern that you don't want to have
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          2  to go through the mechanics of FOIL and all the rest

          3  might well be addressed by some consultation perhaps

          4  with Ms. Ford and my office, we're not anxious for

          5  people to have to do unnecessary formalisms. We do

          6  all agree we need to have some standards as to what

          7  will not be produced, and I think with some effort

          8  among the lawyers we could probably work out some

          9  language that will be satisfactory to all of us.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: All right,

         11  thank you. I appreciate that. I would hope that by

         12  the time we have our next hearing it will be our

         13  final one on this matter. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         15  much, Mr. Corp Counsel, for your cooperation and for

         16  your testimony, and someone from my office will be

         17  in touch.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: The next panel,

         20  Janet Linde, Gene Russianoff, Beth Haroules and Mike

         21  Wallace.

         22                 MS. FORD: Good afternoon, everybody.

         23  Would you each raise your right hand to be sworn in.

         24                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         25  the testimony you're about to give is the whole
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          2  truth and nothing but the truth?

          3                 MR. WALLACE: I do.

          4                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: I do.

          5                 MS. LINDE: I do.

          6                 MS. HAROULES: I do.

          7                 MS. FORD: For the record, would you

          8  each state your name and your affiliation, and after

          9  that you may proceed as you wish.

         10                 MR. WALLACE: Mike Wallace, Gotham

         11  Center for New York City History.

         12                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Gene Russianoff, New

         13  York Public Interest Research Group.

         14                 MS. LINDE: Janet Linde, Archivists

         15  Roundtable of Metropolitan New York, the

         16  Mid-Atlantic Regional Archives Conference, and the

         17  Society of American Archivists.

         18                 MS. HAROULES: Beth Haroules, New York

         19  Civil Liberties Union.

         20                 MR. WALLACE: Shall I plunge ahead?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Yes.

         22                 MR. WALLACE: Okay. First, I think

         23  that the revised version of 102 is a splendid piece

         24  of work. I think it has an eloquent preamble and a

         25  clearly and carefully design framework for
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          2  proceeding.

          3                 I believe that the Mayor's bill

          4  Number 217 is a decided step backwards, and agree

          5  with what several members have said, that in fact it

          6  would be an ironic and disturbing legacy of this

          7  entire affair if we were to write into law revisions

          8  that would in fact make the situation worse.

          9                 There are a variety of ways in which

         10  this happen. Some of them are very small.  One

         11  difference I noticed, that in fact the Mayor's bill

         12  doesn't even require that the people who are

         13  contracted out to do the research have to be in New

         14  York City or New York State. And if, in fact, the

         15  argument is that we're doing this to save money,

         16  presumably it would go to wherever in fact such work

         17  was done least expensively, which could be in

         18  Ireland, it could be in India, it could be anywhere.

         19  This I find problematic but a small problematic.

         20                 In general I'm concerned also that it

         21  allows for private completion of these contracts, as

         22  opposed to keeping them under public domain. I think

         23  to the degree that we can take finances and

         24  profitability, in particular, out of the process of

         25  processing work we'll be ahead of the game. But
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          2  obviously the two big issues are retroactivity and

          3  FOIL.

          4                 On retroactivity my distinguished

          5  colleagues will be able to speak to the law. As you

          6  know, in fact, lawyers disagree, and there are

          7  distinguished members of the bar who are on the

          8  other side of the distinguished Corporation Counsel

          9  here, and it's not clear to me that one can settle

         10  that in advance, if, in fact, this requires a court

         11  to make a final decision, or if it requires the

         12  Mayor to in fact veto it in the first place because,

         13  in fact, he disagrees with it, then so be it. But I

         14  think that the Committee and the Council in general

         15  has to in fact proceed in doing what it thinks

         16  right.

         17                 As to the question of continuing

         18  harm, I would say this. It is true that much of the

         19  harm has already been done, but the funny thing

         20  about archives is that you don't know what's in

         21  them, and you don't know their importance until

         22  something new comes up.

         23                 Two years ago, the fact that the Bush

         24  papers contained a flock of letters from Kenny Boy

         25  at Enron was a feather in the Bush archives cap.
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          2  This was a wonderful record of an important

          3  collaboration. Suddenly Enron is not somebody that

          4  you want to be associated with, and it turns out

          5  that in fact the Bush people tried, as best they

          6  could, to withhold that packet of information.

          7  Retroactively, and you never know this in advance,

          8  it was discovered that it would be in the interest

          9  of those who had actual possession not to disclose.

         10                 So, in effect, continuing harm

         11  depends on the ebb and flow of political

         12  contemporary events. If something comes up

         13  concerning some aspect of the Giuliani

         14  Administration, again, I'm not talking about the

         15  Mayor's personal property, I'm not talking about the

         16  property of the people who are in control of this,

         17  but I should think as a matter of law, not being a

         18  lawyer, the continuing harm in fact would very much

         19  apply to the continuing non-return of the documents

         20  on FOIL.

         21                 I must say, with all respect to the

         22  distinguished Corporation Counsel, his lack of

         23  preparation for this hearing struck me as little

         24  short of amazing. There was an astonishing amount of

         25  time of the members wasted in this entire business.
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          2                 The fact of the matter is that there

          3  is a process in place for the dealing with papers

          4  that might be considered personal under FOIL, or

          5  under standard accepted procedures, they are in

          6  place. That is what archivists do. Archivists make

          7  the decision, and they can make it within 48 hours,

          8  depending on accessibility they can make it within

          9  ten minutes. If somebody asks for a paper, and the

         10  archivist in his or her professional judgment

         11  decides that these are not something which can be

         12  admitted to the general public, they don't do it.

         13  And it's the same thing with Presidential records on

         14  a federal level, you do not have to go to the

         15  Attorney General's office to get access to

         16  presidential papers. The National Archives make

         17  those judgments.

         18                 So, the notion that there is

         19  something deficient about 102 because it is silent

         20  on this issue is preposterous. It's not silent on

         21  the issue, it assumes, as it should, normal

         22  procedure. So, this entire discussion was cockamamie

         23  from the beginning.

         24                 What is being added, and I was even

         25  more alarmed after hearing this, because, in fact, I
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          2  thought maybe he was only talking about imposing

          3  FOIL on documents while they were in the possession

          4  of this private or public agency outside of DORIS'

          5  control, but he's clearly talking about applying

          6  those kind of standards to records that are in

          7  DORIS' control, and this is a preposterous expansion

          8  of -- you know, it's obvious. There's no need for

          9  this. And this proposal is a distinct step

         10  backwards.

         11                 The last point on this, one of the

         12  reasons that you want the public archivists to be

         13  the ones who are making the decision is because they

         14  know what public records are like. Most private

         15  archivists don't deal with particularities of these

         16  things. They know about what kinds of papers should

         17  or should not be quickly, whereas a private

         18  archivist would have to in fact discover all of this

         19  for themselves.

         20                 All right, two last points. One, just

         21  like we didn't have the information properly from

         22  DORIS, and why, in fact, if the Commissioner

         23  couldn't come, why couldn't the archivists come? I

         24  mean, if you had the municipal archivists here, if

         25  you ask Mr. Cobb how is this done, he could have
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          2  told you and we would not have to waste all this

          3  time.

          4                 Something is amiss when the

          5  Administration is not letting the archivists speak

          6  for themselves.

          7                 In addition, I would like to know

          8  what information we are getting from the Giuliani

          9  Center. I haven't a clue. Has anybody? Do you?

         10                 Have there been, even pursuant to the

         11  Giuliani paper agreement, have there been regular

         12  reports? Do we know how many documents have in fact

         13  been processed? Do we know exactly how many FOIL

         14  requests have been bought, and haven't? Money. Where

         15  is the money?

         16                 I raised this before, I still would

         17  like to know. Presumably to get this done in three

         18  years, Mr. Cohen said he was going to raise several

         19  million dollars, has he done this? Or is in fact

         20  this process continuing with no sense of where the

         21  money is going to come from? And talk about

         22  continuing harm, if they don't come up with the

         23  money and it goes on for six years, then continuing

         24  harm has in fact increased.

         25                 My last point: With all due respect
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          2  to the distinguished members of this Committee, I

          3  must profess my great dismay that there will not be

          4  a vote today, as had in fact been, as I understood

          5  it, and most people understood, including the many

          6  people who in fact wrote to and called members of

          7  the Council, or took time to come to this hearing

          8  today. I'm mystified. I understand the technical

          9  ground on which the Mayor objected, that this second

         10  bill is not on the agenda, but I must ask you, if

         11  you have another hearing in a week, I hope no more

         12  than, two weeks at the outset, what on earth is the

         13  Mayor's folks going to say that they didn't say

         14  today?

         15                 So, to postpone this vote on the

         16  grounds of a technicality, and the issues are clear,

         17  everybody knows what the issues are.

         18                 And I'm curious also, the very last

         19  thing, as I understand it, you have, in fact, been

         20  receiving supportive mail for 102 from the general

         21  public.

         22                 People have been getting phone calls.

         23  There is obviously considerable interest in this.

         24  I'm curious, have you been getting equally flooded

         25  with mail from people who say we really should, in
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          2  fact, pass 217? Or who are opposed to any aspect of

          3  this legislation? Maybe you have, but I'd be very

          4  curious to know if that's the case.

          5                 That's it. I hope really that we can

          6  next time, with terrific dispatch, move to a final

          7  consideration and a final vote, whatever the outcome

          8  may be.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me say, we

         11  have received no mail or communication in opposition

         12  to our bill or in support of the Mayor's bill, and

         13  while it may appear to be a minor technical matter,

         14  that the vote was delayed for the opportunity to

         15  hear, to give the Mayor's bill a proper hearing, it

         16  is a matter of an important procedure to this

         17  Committee, and a matter of good government, to learn

         18  from the best in that arena, from people like NYPIRG

         19  and American Civil Liberties Union, good government

         20  groups. So, we're just trying to live, stay in that

         21  spirit as it informed us with regard to the bill

         22  that's before us today.

         23                 MR. WALLACE: I defer to the

         24  Chairperson's judgment.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.
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          2                 MS. HAROULES: Good afternoon. I would

          3  like to address two points. One argument that Mr.

          4  Cardozo did make with respect to whether or not

          5  Intro. 102-A diminishes the power of the Mayor and

          6  his appointees, the second is the argument that he

          7  did not make, which he cannot make, which is that

          8  Intro. 102-A constitutes an unconstitutional

          9  impairment of an existing contractual arrangement.

         10                 You have our testimony, obviously.

         11  With respect to the diminishment argument, we think

         12  that Intro. 102 appropriately clarifies the scope of

         13  the DORIS Commissioner's ability to delegate the

         14  obligations that the City Charter vests in DORIS. We

         15  think that section 2 of 102-A simply clarifies that

         16  when the DORIS Commissioner is, in fact, delegating

         17  archival responsibilities, the Commissioner cannot

         18  delegate to a non-governmental entity.

         19                 In addition, the Commissioner cannot

         20  delegate to an entity that is somehow going to be

         21  contrary to public policy, as implicating conflict

         22  of interest, or appearing to be the product of

         23  self-dealing.

         24                 We think that to the extent that 1133

         25  is amended, that also, it's just clarifying that
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          2  there are time frames within which the various City

          3  agencies are obligated to transfer documents that

          4  are potentially archivally significant to the DORIS

          5  Commissioner.

          6                 On the topic of whether or not Intro.

          7  102-A's retroactivity provision would impair an

          8  existing contract, the constitutional argument that

          9  Mr. Cardozo does not make, it's very clear that

         10  there is some deference to contractual

         11  relationships, but here the protection that you

         12  would extend to the integrity of this contract is

         13  contradicted by the fact that the contract itself

         14  contains a recision clause. So, this is a contract

         15  where the City can, in fact, terminate the contract

         16  in its sole discretion. So, there would be no

         17  impairment of the contract under Article 1 Section

         18  10 of the United States Constitution.

         19                 We also would like to make sure the

         20  record is clear that there is an explication of the

         21  fact that there is a private right of action that is

         22  afforded the citizens of this City and other

         23  aggrieved parties, historians, researchers and what

         24  have you, to enforce the provisions of Intro. 102-A,

         25  that is a very particularly important provision.
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          2                 With respect to 217, which is not

          3  before you today, obviously, but there has been a

          4  significant amount of discussion, we have basically

          5  five very brief points. 217 allows the City to

          6  delegate all of its authority under DORIS' archival

          7  standards to private entities. Basically it permits

          8  DORIS to terminate completely any responsibility

          9  with respect to that delegation.

         10                 It diminished DORIS' ability to

         11  conduct oversight, so in fact, 217 itself is

         12  diminishing the power of one of the Mayor's

         13  appointees.

         14                 In addition, the FOIL regime that

         15  we've had a fair amount of discussion over, it is my

         16  understanding, as I believe Mr. Vallone has

         17  indicated, that with respect to DORIS, the procedure

         18  is that Joe citizen can walk into the archives and

         19  make a request for the production of documents,

         20  whether they have been fully archived or just been

         21  received.

         22                 The archivists apply FOIL exemptions

         23  in screening requests, in addition to other federal

         24  and state provisions relating to confidentiality,

         25  privacy and what have you, in responding to these
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          2  requests.

          3                 FOIL is the access device of last

          4  resort, and with respect to the individual

          5  residents, citizens of this City, researchers and

          6  what have you, if you are forced to FOIL, you not

          7  only have to make the request, so the burden is on

          8  the individual to identify with particularity and

          9  specificity the nature of documents they would like

         10  to have searched.

         11                 In addition, a FOIL response

         12  generates a fee for the agency that is responding to

         13  the request. There is no provision in New York State

         14  law for a waiver of fee request, although I

         15  understand that under certain circumstances fee

         16  waivers are granted, but generally speaking a person

         17  has to pay for the documents that would be produced

         18  in response to the FOIL request. That's a

         19  significant burden that would be imposed.

         20                 As I understand Mr. Cardozo's point,

         21  I think there is agreement that there are

         22  constraints on the types of documents that would be

         23  produced, but that decision-making is already

         24  happening at DORIS and does not obligate us to make

         25  the FOIL request in the first instance.
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          2                 Finally, Intro. 217 doesn't address

          3  at all the controversy that brings us all here

          4  today, which are the Giuliani papers. It does not

          5  address the return of those documents to the City's

          6  direct custody and control, and it certainly doesn't

          7  address the issue of equal access to those records.

          8                 We understand that people have made

          9  FOIL requests to the Giuliani Center. We understand

         10  that there has been an immediate reply. We have your

         11  request, that's all you need to do to comply with

         12  FOIL. There have been some minimal productions of

         13  documents and generally there's a phrase that's

         14  tossed in, we're still excessioning (phonetic),

         15  we're still looking, if we find something we'll get

         16  to you when we get to it.

         17                 That's not the way FOIL was meant to

         18  operate, and it should not be operating in a fashion

         19  to deny people equal access to these documents.

         20                 So, we would, if you do have another

         21  hearing on 217 come and further amplify our comments

         22  on that particular piece of legislation. We do

         23  strongly support a legislative enactment, that would

         24  redress the past injustices worked by the Giuliani

         25  Administration in taking the documents of the City
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          2  out of the City's control, and to prevent in the

          3  future a situation like this from occurring again.

          4                 We urge you to vote yes on Intro.

          5  102-A and to put this matter to bed. Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

          7                 Would you, if I may, you mentioned

          8  some familiarity with FOIL requests that have

          9  already been made with regard to the Giuliani

         10  papers?

         11                 MS. HAROULES: Yes.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Can you just

         13  elaborate a little bit on that? Do you know how many

         14  requests have been made? What is the extent of your

         15  familiarity?

         16                 MS. HAROULES: I have seen the

         17  documentation that has gone back and forth between

         18  the Municipal Arts Society and the Giuliani Center,

         19  making requests for particular documents to be

         20  produced, the response and the promise to provide at

         21  a future date if anything else is found, and my

         22  understanding is that's a typical response. I have

         23  not seen directly other correspondence on this

         24  particular topic.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.
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          2                 MS. LINDE: Yes, I have distributed

          3  our written comments for today, and each of you

          4  should also have received a fax from the archival

          5  organizations, which went into even more detail on a

          6  comparison of the two bills.

          7                 What I'd like to do today is make a

          8  very brief statement and take most of my time to

          9  address and respond to some of the remarks of the

         10  Corporation Counsel, and to begin, I was grateful

         11  that Council Member Vallone did introduce the fact

         12  that DORIS does have a process that they use to

         13  review and survey documents so that they know what

         14  things can be made available.

         15                 I'd also like right off the top to

         16  make it clear that the records of the Dinkins,

         17  Beame, Koch and all other prior mayoral

         18  administrations are archived at DORIS and are open

         19  to the public.

         20                 I think some of the misunderstanding

         21  is that not all of them have undergone the kind of

         22  very detailed processing that is outlined in the

         23  Giuliani plan, and, you know, the reality is that in

         24  many cases, whether at DORIS or the national

         25  archives or other archives I've worked for, or at
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          2  any archives, large collections never undergo that

          3  amount of detail processing, and that does not stop

          4  you from providing access to the public to those

          5  records.

          6                 Archivists have the expertise and the

          7  familiarity with the law that they can go through

          8  and quickly survey documents, 1,500 cubic feet,

          9  whatever, I've been involved in a team of two people

         10  who surveyed 1,500 cubic feet of records in two

         11  months, and after that survey we would have been

         12  able to identify which boxes needed more attention,

         13  because they contained, or probably contained

         14  confidential material that should be restrictive

         15  under the law, and we very quickly knew that all the

         16  other boxes, there was no reason not to allow public

         17  access. So, I was concerned that there was a lot of

         18  misrepresentation of that process going on a little

         19  earlier.

         20                 The other points that I -- well, let

         21  me first read this one real brief statement.

         22                 We would like to clarify at this time

         23  that the professional archival community views

         24  Intro. 217 as inadequate and that we are opposed to

         25  its passage.
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          2                 The essential point I'd like to

          3  stress today is that public records are

          4  fundamentally different from private records.

          5                 The Mayor's proposed legislation

          6  displays a lack of awareness of this vital point.

          7  Public records are the proper key of the citizenry.

          8  They possess an intrinsic value as evidence of our

          9  government's policies, operations, responsibilities

         10  and, in particular, our government's protection of

         11  citizens' rights and privileges that is essential to

         12  our democratic society.

         13                 I have worked as a government

         14  archivist in the past at the National Archives, and

         15  can therefore testify personally to the fact that

         16  when you are a government archivist, you work for

         17  the public and the decisions that you make are

         18  heavily influenced by that fact. All archivists are

         19  governed by a professional code of ethics, but

         20  public institutions are the appropriate place for

         21  public records, because those institutions know that

         22  they hold a trust on the public's behalf.

         23                 That is why the chain of custody is

         24  so important to the archival community. The only way

         25  that records can be trusted as true evidence of the
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          2  workings of our government is if there is an

          3  unbroken chain of custody.

          4                 This value as evidence is just as

          5  important and perhaps more important in the case of

          6  government records as the value of the historical

          7  information present in the record.

          8                 The Council's proposed revision of

          9  this section is preferred for a number of reasons

         10  previously documented. And as I said, I'd like to

         11  briefly take this time to address the Corporation

         12  Counsel's testimony, and also to answer any

         13  questions you might have for me as a professional

         14  archivist.

         15                 One of our main concerns, as we

         16  detailed in the document submitted, is the fact that

         17  access appears to be allowed only under FOIL. I

         18  believe Mr. Cardozo said today that that was only

         19  intended to be for the period of processing of the

         20  records, however, that bill does not say that, and

         21  as far as you can tell from the Mayor's bill, FOIL

         22  access would be the only kind of access allowed in

         23  perpetuity.

         24                 When I was describing how archivists

         25  approach and process collections. Archivists are
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          2  very used to dealing with FOIL requests; however,

          3  what archivists do is reduce the number of documents

          4  that can only be accessed through FOIL to the

          5  smallest possible number, by examining the papers,

          6  and, you know, identifying the records that can only

          7  be available under FOIL because of confidentiality

          8  and client privilege, whatever, so that the rest of

          9  the records can be open without that kind of

         10  cumbersome legal process.

         11                 Mr. Cardozo asked if someone goes to

         12  LaGuardia and asks to see the Council records, he

         13  guessed it would take a long time. I don't know the

         14  answer to that, but I would be surprised if it would

         15  take a particularly long time, and I think probably

         16  the way the LaGuardia Archives handles things is the

         17  same way DORIS and any other archives does, that is

         18  to identify the documents that, you know, need to be

         19  held back and make the others available.

         20                 There is always a process to go

         21  through in order to deal with records that have

         22  security interests or confidentiality interests, but

         23  the normal procedures do not take nearly as long as

         24  the processing of FOIL requests.

         25                 102-A does prohibit private entities
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          2  from processing Mayoral records, and we think that's

          3  a good thing, and we stated our reasons for

          4  supporting that in our testimony.

          5                 I was confused by the Corporation

          6  Counsel's comments that 102-A does not adhere to

          7  standards, because in our reading of the two bills,

          8  the standards are much more stringent in 102-A than

          9  in 217. So, I was confused by that.

         10                 I think there is a difference between

         11  the provision in 102-A that allows for public

         12  disclosure, of contracts and agreements, I do think

         13  that is a significant difference between the two

         14  bills.

         15                 Another remark by the Corporation

         16  Counsel said that 102-A doesn't deal with the fact

         17  that a contract can be signed while an official is

         18  in office, I think that archivists would have no

         19  objection to a point, such a point being added to

         20  the Council's bill, but I think that we see that

         21  it's being replaced by the detailed records

         22  management procedures that are strengthened under

         23  102-A, and, so, that provision isn't present simply

         24  because it wasn't as necessary.

         25                 I think that that covers all of the
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          2  points that I wanted to emphasize. If you have any

          3  questions, I'd be happy to answer them.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          5  much. We're going to go to our next panelist.

          6                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Gene Russianoff with

          7  the New York Public Interest Research Group.

          8                 You have my written testimony and

          9  I'll try and be very brief.

         10                 NYPIRG strongly supports Intro. 102-A

         11  and urges swift passage of the bill. The heart of

         12  the issue is whether elected officials' records were

         13  made under public control, and it seems to me that

         14  if that is something that the Committee feels is

         15  appropriate for the future, and my sense was there's

         16  a consensus on the Committee that for the future,

         17  that these records be kept in the public domain, the

         18  really central issue now is whether that provision

         19  should be retroactive to Mayor Giuliani's records.

         20  And I know both Council Member Nelson and Council

         21  Member Vallone raised questions about whether this

         22  is legal, whether the Council has the authority to

         23  do this, and whether it's constitutional. And I

         24  would argue, Council Member Nelson, not only is it

         25  not punitive to rest these records back into the

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            77

          1  COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENTAL OPERATIONS

          2  public domain, it is the very principle for the

          3  Council, and I think there are strong, strong legal

          4  arguments for the validity of this law, my panel

          5  members have discussed them, I'm just going to make

          6  some brief points.

          7                 Whenever the City Administration

          8  doesn't like something the Council is about to do,

          9  it says you're curtailing the power of the Mayor.

         10  That is, you know, playbook number one for

         11  Corporation Counsels and for City Administrations.

         12  Whenever you hear that your antennas should go up,

         13  because what it is is an assault on the

         14  institutional prerogatives of this Council to put

         15  into law public policies that it believes in. And as

         16  my colleague from the New York Civil Liberties Union

         17  argued, it's our position that this isn't a

         18  curtailment, that this is the clarification of the

         19  power of the Department of Record Service and

         20  Information (sic) and is appropriate.

         21                 Similarly, for the arguments that

         22  this impairs a contract, as my colleagues pointed

         23  out, the Mayor could tomorrow curtail this contract.

         24  The Mayor could just say I'm rescinding the contract

         25  and I want the documents back. And there was some
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          2  discussion of the constitutional law, I'm not a

          3  constitutional scholar but it seems to me that this

          4  Council, if it believes there's an important public

          5  purpose, it can pass this law and rescind this

          6  contract. That view is shared not only by our

          7  groups, but by the Committee Council, I believe, and

          8  by Eric Lane, the Counsel to the Speaker. So, I

          9  think there's strong authority.

         10                 The way it would play out in the real

         11  world is that the bill has a private right of

         12  action, so if this becomes law, and the Giuliani

         13  Archives -- first, one hopes that they will

         14  voluntarily turn these records over once the law

         15  passes, but if they don't, if they don't then some

         16  number of our groups will go to court, and we

         17  strongly believe that our view will be vindicated,

         18  and that the court will find that the records must

         19  be returned to public control.

         20                 I know Council Member Vallone was

         21  concerned that if we're looking forward, are we

         22  going to pass something that's going to get tied up

         23  in the courts? If there's a concern, put in a

         24  severability clause so that for the future there's

         25  no question that the law will go forward, and that
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          2  even if we fail on the issue of retroactivity, which

          3  I don't think we will, the law will stay in place.

          4                 But, really, it's more than just a

          5  legal issue. The issue is, is it good public policy

          6  to get these records back, is there a real harm? I

          7  just think we made a very strong case for that.

          8  Every day that these records are not in the public

          9  domain is a harm to historians, to archivists, to

         10  the public, and a diminution of our access.

         11                 And then lastly, I agree with Council

         12  Member Comrie, I hope if there's one more hearing

         13  it's the last hearing. I think that this issue has

         14  been very well discussed. I think the Chairman and

         15  the Committee have laid a very powerful record that

         16  the archivists and historians and civic groups in

         17  the City believe that for the future the records

         18  should remain in public control, and that what the

         19  last Mayor did was wrong, and his records should be

         20  returned to the public domain.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

         23  much for your encouragement.

         24                 Mike, do you have a question?

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: No, no, in the
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          2  realm of being punitive, I felt it was -- because a

          3  lot of the same people who have been on record for

          4  years hating the Mayor seem to be the people who are

          5  testifying against the Mayor. If I'm incorrect, I'd

          6  like to have that debated.

          7                 MS. HAROULES: Yes. We are not here

          8  testifying yet again against the Mayor. We're

          9  testifying in support of the right of the public to

         10  access the governmental documents, the right of the

         11  public to know what goes on in government, and the

         12  act of removing the documents of a mayoralty that

         13  did generate in fact sufficient, overly sufficient

         14  litigation, and major public policy initiatives and

         15  changes in the way this City has been governed is

         16  extraordinarily important and needs to be known to

         17  the public. That's why we're here today testifying.

         18  If anyone else had done this, and we're not looking

         19  specifically to the records of the Mayor, because

         20  DORIS' purview relates to every single City agency,

         21  Intro. 102-A applies to the conduct of every single

         22  City agency, so we're here because this is a very

         23  critical piece of public policy that you're

         24  confronting.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Yes, I was put
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          2  off by the way, the manner of which it was done,

          3  too. I was really surprised when I read about it

          4  myself, that's why I signed onto this legislation,

          5  if you will. But it just did appear that, I just had

          6  the feeling, the undercurrent that if you hated

          7  Giuliani, you were going to be here to testify for

          8  this, and it seemed to me to be in that punitive

          9  manner that it might be more important in some cases

         10  than the principle in fact, which I found that

         11  principle, I didn't like the way it was done myself,

         12  by the way.

         13                 MS. HAROULES: Right.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: I'd like to

         15  some people who actually like Giuliani to come here

         16  and testify against this and/or vice-versa.

         17                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: It's not about hate,

         18  Council member, it's about love. It's about love of

         19  public access to records, and it's about love of

         20  municipal archives.

         21                 I certainly think that the real loser

         22  here, if you do not take action on the municipal

         23  archives, for future mayors to be able to poorly

         24  fund the municipal archives and then take their

         25  records away and raise funds for them privately, I
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          2  think this Committee, which I know because of its

          3  oversight of DORIS understands this, you know, I

          4  think the failure to act will really hurt a major

          5  City institution.

          6                 MS. LINDE: I'm not aware that

          7  archivists have ever come before the City Council to

          8  testify before, so we're certainly not the usual

          9  suspects. I think it is very significant that you

         10  have the local, regional and national professional

         11  organizations here, and have at every hearing on

         12  this bill, and I mean the Society of American

         13  Archivists is the only national level organization

         14  that's open to all archivists in the country, so

         15  it's not like they represent any faction within the

         16  archival community.

         17                 I think it's very unusual for these

         18  groups to come together, particularly on a local

         19  issue like this, and as has been testified

         20  previously, part of our concern is that this is a

         21  local issue, but it is also part of a trend that's

         22  happened at the national and at the state level, as

         23  well. And we have been opposed to the actions that

         24  have been taken at the federal level and at the

         25  state level, as well, as in regard to this local
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          2  issue.

          3                 MR. WALLACE: I would just add that,

          4  as I said last time, the hundreds of petitioners who

          5  wrote the Council in the first place, we went over

          6  the list a bit last time, and they are, many of

          7  them, coming from distinguished financial firms,

          8  legal firms, a variety of sources who I think would

          9  hardly be willing to locate themselves in the hate

         10  Rudy camp. So, I think this has clearly touched a

         11  very, very wide segment of the City's population.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Good.

         13  Credibility is very important. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I might add,

         15  Council Member Nelson, that of the hundreds of

         16  e-mails that I received, no one identified

         17  themselves for or against the Mayor. They just

         18  basically identified themselves as being very

         19  concerned about the status of the papers and

         20  supporting of our bill.

         21                 Councilman Vallone.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Thank you.

         23  Councilman Nelson, your concern also has legal

         24  ramifications, because if there is evidence that

         25  that is a purpose or an intent behind this action,
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          2  that would be looked at by the court, obviously, in

          3  deciding whether we have the right to do what we

          4  have to do. So, I think that is a legitimate item

          5  that you brought up.

          6                 Mr. Russianoff, unfortunately I got

          7  called away for a second and I was told that you

          8  addressed the ongoing harm issue, which I thank you

          9  for, because I'm interested in learning about that

         10  myself, and further discussing it.

         11                 I believe you mentioned that there is

         12  ongoing harm because you don't have access to the

         13  papers?

         14                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: First, I would

         15  recommend to you the testimony of the New York Civil

         16  Liberties Union, because we don't believe that there

         17  is either a curtailment of mayoral powers or even an

         18  invocation of constitutional provisions on

         19  impairment of contracts. So, before you even get to

         20  your question about whether there is some need to

         21  show an ongoing harm, and I have a question -- I

         22  mean, I would tell you that I don't think we need to

         23  do that either, but in any event, I don't think

         24  there is a curtailment of mayoral power. Mayors

         25  always say that and always do it to reduce --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I agree with

          3  you on that one.

          4                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Okay.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I don't agree

          6  with the impairment of contract. I did hear what she

          7  had to say and I didn't -- I'm not saying she's

          8  wrong, but I'm not saying it clears up the issue at

          9  all either, the fact that there's a recision clause.

         10                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: I think you should

         11  ask Beth to address it because her paper really --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I will. I

         13  will get to that.

         14                 The question was, you said if there's

         15  ongoing harm because you can't get to the papers,

         16  we'd have to prove you can't. So, is there an

         17  instance where you can tell us that you cannot get

         18  the papers now that you would have been able to

         19  receive otherwise? That's the only way we can prove

         20  ongoing harm.

         21                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: You know, I'm

         22  resisting your -- I don't think we have to show

         23  ongoing harm. My point is, I believe that not having

         24  these documents under public control is a harm. I

         25  believe that taking the documents out of the
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          2  municipal archives and leaving the archives to fend

          3  for themselves is an ongoing harm.

          4                 I think there's lots of harm in

          5  public policy, and I don't think we need to show

          6  harm as a legal matter.

          7                 But I mean there are lots of harms to

          8  what's been done here.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Well, I don't

         10  disagree on a policy level that we've been harmed,

         11  and I think I made clear that I disagree with what

         12  happened. Again, I'm just looking from a legal

         13  standpoint.

         14                 Yes.

         15                 MS. HAROULES: I agree with Gene

         16  insofar as the ongoing harm analysis, the fact that

         17  the documents are not in the possession of the City,

         18  that there is no oversight, is, in fact, an ongoing

         19  harm, that there is a FOIL access burden placed on

         20  the citizenry and researchers is an ongoing harm.

         21                 I think, though, the constitutional

         22  analysis with respect to impairment turns on an

         23  important public policy that is being served by the

         24  actions of the legislature, and the policy here is

         25  exercise of the City's police power to protect the
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          2  property, and the property are the records and the

          3  agency records of the City that have been

          4  transferred pursuant to this contract.

          5                 The fact that the contract has a

          6  recision clause speaks I think just as the fact that

          7  the City would be waiving a punitive economic

          8  benefit by terminating it, goes to the balancing act

          9  that is conducted by the courts when they're

         10  assessing exactly what is going on, but your public

         11  interest is protecting the integrity of the

         12  documents and affording the public access, going to

         13  the good government point of the purposes of

         14  archival records being maintained by a citizenry and

         15  by a municipality on behalf of its citizens and

         16  researchers. You know, at the end of the day this

         17  may all end up in court, but in terms of the ability

         18  of the Council to act, the argument is not something

         19  that should prevent the Council from taking action.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: I think I

         21  agree with everything you just said, especially the

         22  part where the recision clause won't be dispositive,

         23  it's just something that will be weighed --

         24                 MS. HAROULES: Exactly.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: -- By the
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          2  court, as will the harm that you just mentioned. And

          3  that's why we have this disagreement between

          4  esteemed attorneys as to what the court will do,

          5  does the harm rise to the level which will allow a

          6  court to overturn a validly entered into contract.

          7                 MS. HAROULES: Well, there is also,

          8  though, the question, as we've testified previously,

          9  about the underlying validity of the contract,

         10  because, remember, this is a contract that may in

         11  fact be perceived as not having been validly entered

         12  into because of the conflict of interest.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: You're right,

         14  that's a separate issue.

         15                 MS. HAROULES: I mean, you have, you

         16  know, the two sides of the mayor's designee entering

         17  into the mayor's not-for-profit agency. So, there's

         18  that other issue that goes into the mix.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Okay.

         20                 You really look like you want to say

         21  something.

         22                 MR. WALLACE: Yes. I'm not an

         23  attorney, but even if in effect we go down to that

         24  specific level, it would seem to me that one thing

         25  you'd want to find out is what I was suggesting
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          2  before, what has the Giuliani Center and the

          3  Corporation Counsel actually been doing in response

          4  to requests?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: You're

          6  absolutely right.

          7                 MR. WALLACE: And if you can show that

          8  there had been 50 requests, and, in fact, there has

          9  been (a) no action on them, or there has been only,

         10  you know, a modicum of action, and the conventional

         11  practice is that within a day or two had they been

         12  in the municipal archives, you would have had access

         13  to them, then it would seem to me the burden of

         14  proof would be on the other side to show that they

         15  were in fact not perpetuating --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: You're

         17  absolutely right. And I have internally made that

         18  recommendation, and I said if we're going to go to

         19  court with this, that's the type of proof we need.

         20  We need specific examples of what has happened now

         21  and what would have happened, and you're not an

         22  attorney but you think like one, which is good.

         23                 MS. HAROULES: I just want to make

         24  sure that, the fact that there may not have been any

         25  FOIL request may also be dispositive because it is
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          2  burdensome to make a FOIL request, and people are

          3  not going to put their names in writing to be

          4  potentially scrutinized by an entity that is deemed

          5  to be an arm of the Mayor, the former Mayor, and

          6  most people, unless they're absolutely determined to

          7  get access to the documents because they've been

          8  denied through the public access route, will not in

          9  fact bring a FOIL request. So it may be that it's

         10  true that they've only received six FOIL requests,

         11  because those have been groups who have felt the

         12  need to actually push the envelope to see what the

         13  response is.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Or possibly

         15  they received them without the FOIL request, but,

         16  again, we need to find out about that.

         17                 MS. HAROULES: Well, that's another

         18  question that in fact should be asked because part

         19  of our concern is that in fact people are being

         20  granted access that may not be equal to the members

         21  of the public, there may be favored journalists,

         22  researchers, autobiographers, whoever, that may have

         23  received access.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: Giuliani has

         25  favored journalists?
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          2                 MR. WALLACE: Well, his own. I mean,

          3  he's working on a book after all, so if in fact his

          4  researchers have been routinely getting access to

          5  those papers, and others have had to go through

          6  hoops, I would think that was relevant, and I would

          7  think --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: It's

          9  extremely relevant, but, again, everything that we

         10  discussed is perceived and possible and we would

         11  need actual proof of that to actually prevail in

         12  court.

         13                 MR. WALLACE: Can't you find that out?

         14  Don't you guys have the power? I mean, couldn't you

         15  simply say what's going on; give me the facts?

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER VALLONE: That's what

         17  our esteemed chairman has been doing, and that's why

         18  we had so many hearings, and I assume we will have

         19  the information from DORIS. I know Janet has been

         20  meeting with these people constantly and I'm sure

         21  that you guys can be of help in that regard. But

         22  that's why I commended him for having this hearing

         23  and putting the work that he has into this.

         24                 Thank you all for your testimony.

         25                 MS. LINDE: If I could just clarify on
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          2  this point, that a difference between FOIL and

          3  standard archival practices is that part of standard

          4  archival practice is to keep all researcher

          5  information confidential, and to never reveal, even

          6  to another researcher who might be interested in the

          7  same topic, what someone else has been looking at,

          8  and that principle is very important to protecting

          9  freedom of access to records.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: I want to thank

         11  this panel, but there's one final question coming

         12  from Council Member Comrie, and then we'll hear from

         13  our last panel, Linda Stone Davidoff and Rachel

         14  Leon. So, please stand by.

         15                 Councilman Comrie.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I just wanted

         17  to thank the panel. I don't really have a question.

         18  Because she just brought out the point of who is

         19  actually looking at the papers now and the level of

         20  access, it seems to me that the way this whole

         21  process has gone, it's been tainted from day one,

         22  and we can never remove the taint.

         23                 The question you just raised

         24  regarding who has access to the papers and what that

         25  level of access is only bothers me and spurs me to
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          2  want to come to some resolution on this.

          3                 So, I don't think that -- and I have

          4  a real problem with the whole idea of the FOIL for

          5  these papers, and I don't think that that's a -- it

          6  would be precedent setting and the Mayor's bill does

          7  require it and I have an extreme level of difficulty

          8  believing that Mayor Giuliani did not already purge

          9  a lot of the information that he wanted prior to

         10  whatever limited information he sent over to Long

         11  Island City. So, for people to have to go through a

         12  Freedom of Information request to get this

         13  information, just seems to want to hurt whatever

         14  history we can put together, or whatever

         15  opportunities we can to have a fair and equal

         16  assessment, and I don't think any of the people that

         17  have e-mailed my office or called my office has been

         18  an anti-individual, but they just want to be able to

         19  have some equal access to history.

         20                 So, I want to commend you for

         21  continuing to show up when we have the hearings, and

         22  I would hope that we only have one more hearing to

         23  resolve this issue, I'll say that again.

         24                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: We clearly share that

         25  view. I agree, I don't think we need to show whether
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          2  someone's FOIL request has been denied. The fact

          3  that they have to make it in the first place, and

          4  it's such a stiff and potentially chilling process,

          5  to me that's more than enough reason for the Council

          6  to act. And in the end, the fundamental issue is, is

          7  should these documents be under the public's

          8  control, and we'll never know what's happened to

          9  these records, and it will be very hard to figure

         10  out who is and who isn't getting extra access.

         11  That's the harm. I don't think any further research

         12  needs to be done, I think that's the principle and

         13  that's what we need the Council to act on and to

         14  protect.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Well, let me

         16  ask you, in light of the fact that the records are

         17  in Long Island City and not under control of DORIS,

         18  would you make a recommendation as to how those

         19  records could be made more public?

         20                 MR. RUSSIANOFF: Well, by passage of

         21  Intro. 102-A, and returning the records to public

         22  control through the Archives, who then may, in their

         23  judgment, decide that CUNY or SUNY or some other

         24  governmental entity is a good place --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: That's not
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          2  what I'm really asking. I mean, we're talking in

          3  reality to some degree. The records are already in

          4  Long Island City, you know, would you allow or

          5  consider total public access at that location? Or

          6  you think that would be possible or probable under

          7  any circumstance?

          8                 MR. WALLACE: Well, who's going to pay

          9  for it? I mean, right now because they're there, you

         10  are paying -- I forget the number but it's a lot of

         11  money, on a monthly basis, and they're picking up

         12  that tab. Now, if it switches back to our control,

         13  but the City then has to pay the bill out in Long

         14  Island City - bring them back, you know? It's a

         15  couple of truckloads, it's not a big deal, and

         16  there's space in the Archives themselves.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I don't have a

         18  question of the physical probability, I mean in

         19  light of the fact that we are dealing with a serious

         20  budget cut and there is, you know, a fiscal problem,

         21  for us to turn around and say that we're going to

         22  fund DORIS is not something that is really --

         23                 MS. HAROULES: I think --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: But in light

         25  of the fact that they are raising private monies,
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          2  you know, I'm just trying to come up with some idea

          3  to force them to do an open public process.

          4                 MR. WALLACE: But they don't have to

          5  be for us. Remember, their position is that they are

          6  intent on enhancing excess and speeding the process.

          7  If that's what they want, they don't need control.

          8  All they have to do is give us the money. They've

          9  raised the money presumably. If they haven't, then

         10  we have another kind of problem.  If they have

         11  raised the money, donate it to DORIS, set up a

         12  special trust fund, they can be on the board, you

         13  know, whatever, work that out, and then we could

         14  hire, if needs be, temporary archivists, the way, in

         15  fact, the Archives has repeatedly in the past. They

         16  get seventions (phonetic) from the outside --

         17                 MS. LINDE: I just wanted to clarify

         18  that I don't think that the choice is between having

         19  the City spend more money to fund DORIS, while we do

         20  think that is something, you know, that should

         21  happen when it can, bringing those records back is

         22  not going to require the City to spend more money.

         23  DORIS has the room, DORIS has staff, there might not

         24  be money to hire staff to do the kind of fine level

         25  processing that the Giuliani Center is doing, but as
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          2  Mike said, they could donate the funds. It's also

          3  possible for DORIS to get grants and raise funds, if

          4  that's needed on a temporary basis, until the City

          5  can do better at funding DORIS.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you very

          8  much. And I appreciate your testimony, your advice,

          9  your cooperation, and we look forward to a vote.

         10                 The next panel will please come

         11  forward, Rachel Leon and Linda Stone Davidoff.

         12                 MS. FORD: Good afternoon. Would you

         13  each raise your right hands to be sworn in.

         14                 Do you solemnly swear or affirm that

         15  the testimony you're about to give is the whole

         16  truth and nothing but the truth?

         17                 MS. LEON: I do.

         18                 MS. STONE DAVIDOFF: I do.

         19                 MS. FORD: Okay, please each state

         20  your name for the record and your affiliation, and

         21  proceed as you wish.

         22                 MS. STONE DAVIDOFF: I'm Linda Stone

         23  Davidoff, Executive Director of Citizens Union, and

         24  Citizens Union Foundation.

         25                 MS. LEON: I'm Rachel Leon. I'm the
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          2  Executive Director of Common Cause New York.

          3                 MS. STONE DAVIDOFF: Mr. Chairman,

          4  thank you for allowing us to testify here today, and

          5  members of the Council, thank you for your patience

          6  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you.

          8                 MS. STONE DAVIDOFF:-- And willingness

          9  to hear us out.

         10                 I will not read my testimony, which

         11  is being handed to you. I just want to point out

         12  that the hearings, both the prior ones and today's,

         13  have caused me to go out and buy a new paperback of

         14  George Orwell's 1984 because I couldn't find my old

         15  copy on the book shelf, and it really makes

         16  wonderful, wonderful reading in the context of this

         17  controversy.

         18                 George Orwell wrote a fantasy, but it

         19  was grounded in his perception of where the world

         20  was heading, and I believe the 1940s when he was

         21  looking ahead to 1984, and the experts that I'm

         22  quoting here is I think richly relevant.

         23                 As our hero, Winston, is working to

         24   -- it's called "rectify" the documents on which

         25  economic forecasts are to be based. As he conducts
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          2  his research for the day he discovers that "the

          3  Times" -- I'm not sure whether that's London or New

          4  York -- "... Of the 19th of December [showed] The

          5  official forecasts of the output of the various

          6  classes of consumption goods in the fourth quarter

          7  of 1983, which was also the sixth quarter of the

          8  ninth Three-Year Plan. Today's issue contained a

          9  statement of the actual output, output from which it

         10  appeared that the forecasts were in every instance

         11  grossly wrong. Winston's job was to rectify the

         12  original figures by making them agree with the later

         13  ones... As soon as Winston had dealt with the

         14  message... he clipped his speechwritten corrections

         15  to the... copy of the Times and pushed them into the

         16  pneumatic tube. Then, with a movement that was as

         17  nearly as possible unconscious, he crumpled up the

         18  original message and any notes that he himself had

         19  made, and dropped them into the memory hole to be

         20  devoured by the flames."

         21                 Mr. Chairman, I want to just comment

         22  on a couple of the points that have been raised in

         23  the previous testimony because it seems to me that

         24  Orwell has laid out in general and broadly and

         25  theoretically the reasons why the public should
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          2  control its own archives.

          3                 And I want to thank the Chair for his

          4  initiative in launching the drive to legislate and

          5  remedy the great wrong that has been done with

          6  removal of public papers from the public's

          7  possession, and the persistence and care with which

          8  this issue is being addressed.

          9                 Some of the arguments that have been

         10  induced today are that the papers after all -- the

         11  issue is not that important anymore because so much

         12  time has passed that if -- and here I think Council

         13  Member Vallone and Council Member Nelson have quite

         14  appropriately raised the question, well, had there

         15  been some criminal intent on the part of the former

         16  Mayor, which God forbid we should even speculate

         17  about, certainly there would have been plenty of

         18  time to expunge the records by now.

         19                 We are pushed into a position of

         20  having to imagine horrible things, the thought that

         21  criminal intent is being concealed; horrible things,

         22  the thought that manipulation of history is

         23  underway. And Council Member Nelson's concern that

         24  this is out of some hatred of the former Mayor is

         25  really nobody wants to be pushed into contemplating
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          2  this with respect to any former Mayor or official of

          3  the City of New York, it's that the removal of the

          4  papers forces one to contemplate abstract

          5  possibilities that one would never want to attribute

          6  to any former official of the City of New York.

          7                 So, as the Times today editorially

          8  said the word, shredding, is that possible? Is

          9  manipulation, is removal, is destruction of records

         10  possible? The fact is that if you remove records

         11  from the public realm, then it is possible. And as

         12  long as it's possible, it's up to this Council to

         13  legislate to make it no longer possible.

         14                 So, I think the boldness, the

         15  courage, of stepping forward to say we will not

         16  allow this to be possible, is really the question,

         17  not whether we contribute any evil to any past

         18  officer of this City.

         19                 The second thing that's been brought

         20  before us a lot is expenses. Here we have to balance

         21  the needs of the hungry and the homeless of the City

         22  of New York against the few hundred thousand dollars

         23  that it costs to hire archivists who preserve papers

         24  to pay for trucks to carry documents across a

         25  bridge. Here I think the Council has a job of
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          2  balancing two public goods; the preservation of the

          3  public records of this City and of its people,

          4  versus some very modest dollars of cost. And I just

          5  would like to commend the previous panel for making

          6  the point that since the former Mayor is able to

          7  raise substantial private funds and designate a

          8  purpose, there's no reason why those funds couldn't

          9  be dedicated to the City of New York for its careful

         10  preservation of these particular records.

         11                 So, I just want to close by saying

         12  that the reason why the historical record is

         13  particularly pointed, important and in need of

         14  preservation now is because the citizens of the City

         15  of New York have the task as voters of judging in

         16  context, in historic context, the performance of

         17  mayors and other officials in office. That's

         18  precisely why the public record and its public

         19  ownership is so crucial.

         20                 This past Mayor made very substantial

         21  claims to being the Mayor who changed the course of

         22  this City, who departed very largely from the

         23  practices and policies of his predecessors, and who

         24  said I have now renewed the purpose and life of this

         25  City. That's a tremendously important claim to have
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          2  made, and the people of the City of New York need to

          3  be able to evaluate that in a dispassionate manner.

          4  The best way to do it is have all the records of all

          5  the past mayors side by side in the public hand so

          6  that those decisions and choices can be made.

          7                 Thank you very much.

          8                 MS. LEON: Good afternoon. Common

          9  Cause appreciates the opportunity to speak to you

         10  today and all of the efforts that the Council has

         11  put forward in introducing this legislation that we

         12  feel is vitally important.

         13                 We're a citizens lobby and we believe

         14  strongly in open and accountable government, and to

         15  us this is a very, very simple but important case.

         16  You know, when I see that up there and it says

         17   "government of the people, by the people, and for

         18  the people," it just becomes very clear to me, this

         19  is about public records, this is about public trust,

         20  and we're at a time in our nation's history -- I

         21  thought it was interesting that the New York Times

         22  invoked Watergate in their editorial today, because

         23  that was a time of very low public trust and a

         24  growing cynicism among the public that they couldn't

         25  trust their elected officials and today things are
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          2  much worse, and as an organization that spends every

          3  day trying to get people to vote more and get

          4  involved more in democracy, we have to come to you

          5  and help protect this institution.

          6                 And, so, I ask you to stay strong

          7  today, to return these records to the public domain,

          8  you know, to do it as quickly as possible, because

          9  every day that they are not under the public domain,

         10  we do believe harm is being done.

         11                 And the other thing that just

         12  concerns me is we often, we keep getting into these

         13  fiscal discussions, and, you know, to me it's to

         14  invoke the now more than ever cliche that's been

         15  said far too often, but it is especially in tight

         16  fiscal times that we have a more open and democratic

         17  government, not a less. It's not that we, you know,

         18  have to tighten our belts and also, you know, not be

         19  as democratic. We need to be more democratic.

         20  Sunshine, the last I checked, was free, although you

         21  could probably debate that in an energy discussion,

         22  but let's have an open and accountable government,

         23  let's bring these archives back to the public.

         24                 I'll tell you that we've been in high

         25  schools lately talking to students and trying to get
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          2  them not to be cynical but to care and get involved

          3  in government, and having to tell them that they

          4  don't have the documents that relate to the last

          5  Mayor, an incredibly important historical time, is

          6  not a thing that we want to have to tell them. So,

          7  please do it for them.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER NELSON: Very

          9  enlightening, I'll tell you. I liked the Orwellian

         10  version, too. I think it's really very interesting.

         11  I believe it was objective. I did have the usual

         12  suspects type of a feeling, as you mentioned before.

         13  The possibility of a revisionist history, of course,

         14  always looms on the horizon, although it could be

         15  argued how dangerous it could be, but any time you

         16  try to change history it could pose a danger. Both

         17  panels, it was quite informative, I just wanted to

         18  thank them. And I'm glad we stuck around and

         19  listened to all of it, I think it was very

         20  important, and that's what this is all supposed to

         21  be about. So, I thank you for that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Councilman

         23  Comrie.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE: I also want to

         25  thank the panelists for staying around, and I
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          2  appreciated your perspective on this, and it just

          3  gives us a little more fervor in trying to get this

          4  done at the next hearing. To bandy about what seems

          5  to be so much common sense, if not a common cause,

          6  should be put to some final finality at some point

          7  in time. And, you know, I can understand the

          8  Administration not wanting to move forward on this,

          9  and I can understand the prior Administration's

         10  desire to shape their own history, but to let our

         11  children know and to let our City know that we can

         12  be manipulated by a midnight deal, it just doesn't

         13  sit right with me.

         14                 And, so, all of a sudden to now make

         15  that a precedent for future, just does not sit well

         16  with what this City was founded on. So, thank you

         17  very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Let me just say

         19  as the Chair and on behalf of the members of the

         20  Committee, that we thank you very much for your

         21  testimony. You were last but you were not least in

         22  terms of your contribution to this discussion about

         23  a very, very important matter, no matter how some

         24  may consider it small, it is fundamental to what our

         25  City is about, to what our democracy is about. And
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          2  it has nothing to do with a personality, it has to

          3  do with from an institutional point of view, what

          4  role do we play in protecting the interests of this

          5  City, particularly in terms of its public records.

          6                 And clearly, we did not initiate this

          7  discussion, we did not come here with an intention

          8  of having an agenda about this type of matter. We

          9  came as a new Council, and this is an issue that

         10  came to us, which we could not avoid, not simply

         11  because of the concerns of the community that had

         12  come to our attention individually and as a

         13  Committee, but also because of our own commitment to

         14  doing the right thing in terms of representing the

         15  City, and assuring you, as members of the community,

         16  as members of the civic organizations, the good

         17  government organizations, that we take very

         18  seriously the role that we play here, whether we

         19  agree with you or not.

         20                 Obviously, the bill that we have

         21  before us represents a point of view that you share,

         22  and we're happy, or I'm happy at least, that you

         23  share that point of view. But there's obviously

         24  others in this Council who have a different point of

         25  view, but it's wonderful that nevertheless you have
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          2  participated in a process, enlightened all of us

          3  about the significance of this matter. Even the

          4  Mayor's Office has helped in its own way to inform

          5  us and the public about the matter, and I'm

          6  confident that this will be the last hearing that I

          7  will chair on this matter in my career in this

          8  Council, and, so, I hope that the members have had

          9  all their reservations resolved with regard to

         10  moving forward and with regard to integrity of the

         11  process, which we wanted to make sure was in the

         12  spirit of good government.

         13                 Thank you very much. This hearing is

         14  adjourned.

         15                 (Hearing concluded at 3:40 p.m.)
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          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter and Notary Public in and for the

         11  State of New York, do hereby certify that the

         12  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         13  within proceeding.

         14                 I further certify that I am not

         15  related to any of the parties to this action by

         16  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         17  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         18                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         19  set my hand this 25th day of June 2002.
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